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Independent auditor’s report  

To the Shareholders of Source Energy Services Ltd. 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Source Energy Services Ltd. and its subsidiaries (together, the Company) as at 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IFRS). 

What we have audited 
The Company’s consolidated financial statements comprise: 

● the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020 and 2019; 

● the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the years then ended; 

● the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended; 

● the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended; and 

● the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. 



Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming 
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Impairment assessment of property, plant and 
equipment (PP&E)  

Refer to note 3 − Significant accounting policies 
and note 7 − Property, plant and equipment to the 
consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s net PP&E balance is $140.9 million 
as at December 31, 2020. For purposes of 
assessing impairment, property, plant and 
equipment and intangibles are grouped into cash-
generating units (CGUs). Management has 
determined that the Company’s operations 
represent one CGU. At each reporting period or 
when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, 
management reviews its CGUs for indicators of 
impairment that suggest the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. If indicators of impairment exist, 
the recoverable amount of the assets are 
estimated. An impairment loss is recognized if the 
carrying amount of the CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount was 
determined using an earnings multiple approach as 
well as a discounted cash flow model. Based on the 
impairment test performed on the Company’s CGU 
as at March 31, 2020, it was determined that the 
carrying value was in excess of the recoverable 
amount, resulting in an impairment loss of $143.7 
million. As at December 31, 2020, the Company did 
not note any further impairments.

Our approach to addressing the matter involved the 
following procedures, among others: 

● Evaluated how management determined the 
recoverable amount of its CGU, which included 
the following: 

− Evaluated the appropriateness of the 
methods used by management in 
determining the recoverable amount. 

− Tested the underlying data used in 
determining these estimates. 

− Tested the mathematical accuracy of the 
models used.  

● Tested the reasonableness of the revenue 
growth rates applied by management in the 
discounted cash flow model by comparing them 
to the budget, the current and past 
performance of the CGU, available external 
industry data and existing contracts in place. 

● Tested the reasonableness of the assumptions 
used by management in their earnings multiple 
approach by assessing the current and past 
performance of the operating segment and the 
comparability of the market multiples with 
external market and industry data.  



Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Significant assumptions used in the discounted 
cash flow model include the revenue growth rate 
and a discount rate. The earnings multiple 
approach uses earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization less corporate 
expenses and market multiples to determine the 
recoverable amount of the CGU. The multiple is 
calculated using multiples of comparable public 
companies.  

We determined that this a key audit matter due to 
the subjectivity and complexity in performing 
procedures to test the significant judgments made 
by management when developing the estimated 
recoverable value of its CGU, including the use of 
significant assumptions in estimating the 
recoverable amount. Professionals with specialized 
skill and knowledge in the field of valuation assisted 
us in performing our procedures. 

● Professionals with specialized skill and 
knowledge in the field of valuation assisted in 
evaluating the reasonability of the discount rate 
used in the discounted cash flow model, as well 
as assessing the reasonability of the earnings 
multiple. 

● Evaluated the related disclosures made in the 
consolidated financial statements, particularly 
with regard to key assumptions used by 
management. 

Assessing the accounting for complex revenue 
contracts - sand sales and other services 

Refer to note 3 − Significant accounting policies 
and note 16 − Revenue to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

The Company’s revenue for the year amounted to 
$249.9 million. The revenue, which consists 
principally of sand sales and other services, is 
generally subject to contractual arrangements, 
which specify price and general terms and 
conditions. The Company offers certain 
arrangements whereby a customer can purchase 
products and services together. The contractual 
obligation which requires significant consideration 
by management may include contract liabilities, 
take-or-pay commitments and revenue for the 
rental of storage facilities. Significant management 
judgment is required in identifying and assessing 
the appropriate accounting recognition for each 
contractual element identified within these 
contractual arrangements. 

Our approach to addressing the matter involved the 
following procedures, among others: 

● Understood management’s process for 
evaluating complex revenue contracts, 
including the process to identify multiple 
contractual elements.  

● Tested a sample of new revenue contracts 
entered into during the year and assessed 
management's accounting treatment for each of 
the contractual elements identified.   

● Where multiple performance obligations are 
identified including a sand sale in combination 
with other services provided to the customers, 
our approach involved the following 
procedures: 

− Where a sand sale contractual obligation 
including the revenue for rental of storage 
facilities have been identified, tested these 
transactions by agreeing amounts 



Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

We determined that this a key audit matter due to 
the magnitude of the matter and significant 
judgment and effort in performing procedures to 
evaluate management’s identification and 
appropriate recognition under the relevant 
accounting policy for the multiple contractual 
elements within these contracts.

recognized by management to the 
underlying source contract or purchase 
orders, invoices and price lists to support 
the revenue recognized and the value 
attributed to each revenue stream. 

● In the case of contract liabilities, tested the 
amount recognized by management by 
agreeing it to the underlying source contract or 
purchase order for satisfaction of performance 
obligations. 

● Where take-or-pay commitments have been 
identified, tested the amounts recognized by 
agreeing the minimum estimated revenue 
within the source contracts to customer 
revenue volumes. 

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
consolidated financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 



In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

● Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

● Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 



● Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and 
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Reynold Tetzlaff. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Calgary, Alberta 
March 18, 2021 



December 31, December 31,
As at December 31, Note 2020 2019

Assets

Current assets
Accounts receivable 4(c) $ 33,644 $ 49,538 
Prepaid expenses  4,436  2,554 
Inventories 6  53,467  60,930 

Total current assets  91,547  113,022 

Deferred income tax asset 9  —  30,574 
Property, plant and equipment 7  140,927  296,933 
Right-of-use assets 8  33,787  56,136 
Total assets $ 266,261 $ 496,665 

Liabilities and equity

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals 4(d) $ 33,219 $ 44,082 
Contract liabilities 16  776  2,035 
Lease liabilities 11  11,036  19,706 
Decommissioning provision 12  1,006  1,603 

Total current liabilities  46,037  67,426 

Lease liabilities 11  31,293  40,319 
Long-term debt 10  147,281  178,840 
Contract liabilities 16  —  1,125 
Decommissioning provision 12  8,963  9,646 
Total long-term liabilities  187,537  229,930 

Total liabilities $ 233,574 $ 297,356 

Shareholders' equity
Shareholders' equity 13(a) $ 410,632 $ 397,911 
Contributed surplus  2,459  7,910 
Accumulated deficit  (388,622)  (205,947) 
Cumulative translation adjustment  8,218  2,004 
Shareholders' equity  32,687  201,878 
Non-controlling interests 13(a)  —  (2,569) 

Total equity $ 32,687 $ 199,309 

Total liabilities and equity $ 266,261 $ 496,665 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)

Approved on behalf of the Board of Directors:

signed “Stew Hanlon” signed “Brad Thomson”
Stew Hanlon
Director

Brad Thomson
Director

SOURCE ENERGY SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

(All amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)
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Note 2020 2019
Sales

Sand revenue 16 $ 210,021 $ 281,866 
Wellsite solutions 16  36,644  46,208 
Terminal services 16  3,213  4,882 

Total sales  249,878  332,956 

Cost of sales 17 $ 193,033 $ 253,302 
Cost of sales - depreciation  32,188  42,043 

Gross margin $ 24,657 $ 37,611 

Operating expense 17 $ 12,485 $ 20,710 
General & administrative expense 17  9,379  12,247 
Depreciation  13,860  16,212 

Loss from operations $ (11,067) $ (11,558) 

Other expense (income):
Finance expense 19 $ 29,689 $ 28,060 
Share-based compensation expense (recovery) 14  (14)  203 
Loss (gain) on asset disposal  (150)  161 
Gain on derivative liability 4(e)  —  (1,326) 
Other income  (1,625)  (927) 
Other expense 20  298  15,954 
Impairment expense 7  143,656  61,215 
Gain on debt extinguishment 13(c)  (27,690)  — 
Foreign exchange gain  (1,115)  (1,002) 

Total other expense  143,049  102,338 

Loss before income taxes $ (154,116) $ (113,896) 

Income taxes
Deferred tax expense (recovery) 9 $ 31,350 $ (23,941) 

Total income taxes  31,350  (23,941) 

Net loss $ (185,466) $ (89,955) 

Net loss attributable to shareholders  (182,675)  (88,522) 
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests 13(a)  (2,791)  (1,433) 
Total net loss $ (185,466) $ (89,955) 

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Foreign currency translation adjustment (subject to recycling)  6,214  (14,158) 
Consolidated comprehensive loss $ (179,252) $ (104,113) 

Loss per share (in dollars)
Basic 15 $ (36.81) $ (17.68) 
Diluted 15 $ (36.81) $ (17.68) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

SOURCE ENERGY SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss)

(All amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted) 
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Common share 
capital

Contributed 
Surplus

Cumulative 
Translation 
Adjustment

Accumulated 
Deficit

Non-
controlling 
interests

Number 
of 

Shares(1) Total EquityNote $

Balance at December 31, 2019  5,079,388 $ 397,911 $ 7,910 $ 2,004 $ (205,947) $ (2,569) $ 199,309 
Elimination of NCI through 
conversion of Class B shares 13(a)  91  (5,451)  5,360  — 
Share issuance due to 
Recapitalization Transaction(2) 13(a)  8,465,667  12,630  12,630 

Net loss  (182,675)  (2,791)  (185,466) 

Unrealized foreign exchange income  6,214  6,214 

Balance at December 31, 2020  13,545,055 $ 410,632 $ 2,459 $ 8,218 $ (388,622) $ — $ 32,687 
Notes:
(1) Prior year shares have been restated to reflect the 12:1 share consolidation pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction (as defined in Note 1).
(2) Net of transaction costs related to share issuance. Refer to Note 13 for additional information.

Common share 
capital

Contributed 
Surplus

Cumulative 
Translation 
Adjustment

Accumulated 
Deficit

Non-
controlling 
interests

Number 
of 

Shares(1) Total Equity$

Balance at December 31, 2018  5,186,386 $ 399,511 $ 7,554 $ 16,162 $ (117,425) $ (1,136) $ 304,666 

Share-based compensation expense  356  356 
Repurchase and cancellation of 
shares under NCIB  (106,998)  (1,600)  (1,600) 

Net loss  (88,522)  (1,433)  (89,955) 

Unrealized foreign exchange loss  (14,158)  (14,158) 

Balance at December 31, 2019  5,079,388 $ 397,911 $ 7,910 $ 2,004 $ (205,947) $ (2,569) $ 199,309 
Note:
(1) Prior year shares have been restated to reflect the 12:1 share consolidation pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction (as defined in Note 1).

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

SOURCE ENERGY SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

(All amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)
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Note 2020 2019
Cash Flows Provided by Operating Activities

Net loss $ (185,466) $ (89,955) 
Adjusted for the following:

Depreciation  46,048  58,255 
Share-based compensation 14  (14)  203 
Loss (gain) on sale of assets  (150)  161 
Write-off of damaged Fox Creek assets 20  —  4,155 
Finance expense 19  29,689  28,060 
Write-down of assets 20  —  9,869 
Impairment 7  143,656  61,215 
Gain on debt extinguishment 13(c)  (27,690)  — 
Deferred income taxes 9  31,350  (23,941) 
Unrealized gain on derivative liability  —  (1,326) 
Gain on lease modification  —  (66) 
Satisfaction of performance obligations, net of proceeds on contract 
liabilities 16  (2,081)  (2,453) 
Payments for share-based compensation  (15)  (60) 
Payments made for decommissioning provision 12  (1,575)  (2,665) 

Net changes in non-cash working capital 5  5,619  (5,671) 
Cash flows provided by operating activities $ 39,371 $ 35,781 

Investing Activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (3,683)  (19,669) 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  155  12 
Net changes in non-cash working capital 5  (1,428)  21 

Cash flows used in investing activities $ (4,956) $ (19,636) 

Financing Activities
Proceeds on long-term debt 5  61,031  68,002 
Repayments on long-term debt 5  (66,644)  (38,805) 
Recapitalization Transaction debt issuance costs 13(c)  (7,804)  — 
Recapitalization Transaction equity issuance costs 13(c)  (69)  — 
Proceeds from the US Paycheck Protection Program  2,931  — 
Repurchase and cancellation of shares under NCIB 13(b)  —  (1,600) 
Repayment of lease obligations 11  (15,526)  (23,118) 
Financing expense paid  (8,334)  (25,198) 

Cash flows used in financing activities $ (34,415) $ (20,719) 

Decrease in cash $ — $ (4,574) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  —  4,574 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ — $ — 

Supplementary information for cash flows from operating activities
Interest paid  (7,874)  (24,896) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

SOURCE ENERGY SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(All amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)
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1.     GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

Source Energy Services Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Source” or the “Company”) is a company that focuses on the production and 
distribution of high quality Northern White frac sand, as well as the distribution of other bulk completion materials not produced by 
Source. Source provides its customers with an end-to-end solution for frac sand supported by its Wisconsin mines and processing 
facilities, its Western Canadian terminal network and its “last mile” logistics capabilities. Source also provides storage and logistics 
services for other bulk oil and gas well completion materials and has developed Sahara, a proprietary wellsite mobile sand storage 
and handling system. 

During 2020, in response to unprecedented industry challenges resulting from COVID-19 (as defined below) and the commodity 
price collapse driven by the price war between OPEC and other oil exporting nations that occurred earlier in the year, Source 
undertook a comprehensive process to improve the Company’s capital structure and enhance liquidity (the “Recapitalization 
Transaction”). On December 30, 2020, Source completed the Recapitalization Transaction which, among other things, extinguished 
the Company’s 10.5% senior secured notes due 2021 in exchange for new senior secured notes, maturing 2025, and the issuance 
of new common shares of Source. The Recapitalization Transaction was undertaken through a plan of arrangement under the 
Canada Business Corporations Act (“CBCA”). Refer to Note 13 for additional information related to the Recapitalization 
Transaction. 

The Company’s head and principal office is located at 500, 438 – 11th Avenue SE, Calgary, Alberta, T2G 0Y4. 

2.     BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).

The policies applied in these consolidated financial statements are based on IFRS issued and outstanding as at March 18, 2021, 
the date of the final approval of the financial statements by the board of directors (the “Board”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial 
assets and liabilities to estimated fair value.

Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based 
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future 
years affected.

Impact of COVID-19 

On March 11, 2020, the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) outbreak was declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organization. 
Measures enacted to prevent the spread of the virus resulted in global business disruption with significant economic repercussions 
and caused uncertainty and extraordinary volatility in the oil and gas industry, particularly in the Western Canadian Sedimentary 
Basin (“WCSB”). These events caused a significant contraction in capital spending in the WCSB and the demand for the 
Company’s products and services has been impacted as customers adjusted operations in response to the volatile economic 
climate. 

As a result of these circumstances, Source undertook numerous initiatives to enhance liquidity and address the challenges 
resulting from the significant downturn in the Western Canadian oil industry, further impacted by COVID-19. On December 30, 
2020, Source completed its Recapitalization Transaction (refer to Note 13). Additionally, Source implemented operational cost 
reduction measures to mitigate the impact of the volatile operating environment. Ongoing challenges related to the pandemic, 
including the emergence of variants of the virus and recent increases in the number of cases of the virus globally, continue to 
create uncertainty in the economic climate and the Company’s operating environment. Earlier in the year, the Company disclosed 
potential risks surrounding Source’s ability to continue as a going concern; however, this disclosure is no longer required following 
the completion of the Recapitalization Transaction. The extent to which COVID-19 will continue to impact the Company’s financial 
position remains uncertain and cannot be predicted, but continued adverse impacts may result in further decreased revenues, 
increased counterparty credit risk and uncertainties with respect to debt covenant compliance and liquidity.

SOURCE ENERGY SERVICES LTD.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

(All amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)
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Source has assessed the potential impact of COVID-19 on the estimates and judgements used in determining the value of its 
assets, liabilities and equity. The following discussion sets forth management’s most critical estimates and assumptions in 
determining these values.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and grants credit based on a review of historical collection 
experience, current aging status, the customer’s financial condition and anticipated industry conditions. Customer payments are 
regularly monitored. A provision for doubtful accounts is established based on the expected credit loss model under IFRS 9. 

Inventories

The Company evaluates its inventory to ensure it is carried at the lower of average cost and net realizable value. Allowances are 
made against obsolete or damaged inventories and charged to cost of sales. The reversal of any write-down of inventory arising 
from an increase in net realizable value would be recognized as a reduction in cost of sales in the period in which the reversal 
occurred.

Depreciation

The amounts recorded for depreciation of property and equipment are based on estimates of the useful lives of the assets and 
residual values. This estimated residual value and useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and adjusted if required.

Decommissioning liabilities

The amounts recorded for decommissioning liabilities are based on the Company’s mining activities and the estimated costs to 
abandon and reclaim the land and facilities, the estimated time period in which these costs will be incurred in the future and the 
discount and inflation rates. Any changes to these estimates could change the amount of decommissioning liability and may 
materially impact the consolidated financial statements in future periods.

Income taxes

The amounts recorded for deferred income taxes are based on estimates regarding the timing of the reversal of temporary 
differences and tax rates currently substantively enacted. Legislation and regulations in the various jurisdictions that the Company 
operates in are subject to change and differing interpretations require management judgment. Income tax filings are subject to 
audits, re-assessments and changes in facts, circumstances and interpretations of the standards could result in a material change 
in the Company’s provision for income taxes. As such, income taxes are subject to measurement uncertainty.

Share-based compensation

Liability-settled compensation plans include the following award types: restricted share unit (“RSU”), performance share unit 
(“PSU”) and deferred share unit (“DSU”). RSUs and PSUs may be settled in common shares or cash. DSUs, RSUs and PSUs may 
be settled for cash payments and accordingly are considered a liability-settled award for accounting purposes. The fair value of 
stock options to purchase common shares is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which 
includes underlying assumptions related to the risk-free interest rate, average expected unit life, estimated forfeitures and 
estimated volatility of Source.

Cash-generating units

The determination of a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) is based on management’s judgment regarding geographical proximity, 
shared equipment and mobility of equipment. Management has determined that the Company’s operations represent one CGU.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in 
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent 
cash inflows (CGUs). The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined using an approach which considers a discounted cash flow 
model and an earnings multiple approach. The discounted cash flow model incorporates significant assumptions including a 
revenue growth rate and discount rate. The earnings multiple approach uses earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortization less corporate expenses and comparable market multiples to determine the recoverable amount of the CGU. Prior 
impairments of non-financial assets are reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting date.

Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is a component of a contract that modifies the cash flows of the contract. Embedded derivatives are 
separated from the contract and accounted for as derivative liabilities or assets. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value 

SOURCE ENERGY SERVICES LTD.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

(All amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)
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through profit or loss. The fair value of the derivatives may be based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are 
not based on observable market data.

Revenue recognition

Contractual arrangements for revenue are intricate and may have multiple contractual elements within them, resulting in complex 
recognition in the financial statements. The contractual elements which require significant consideration may include embedded 
derivatives, contract liabilities, take-or-pay commitments and leasing arrangements. Significant judgement is required in identifying 
and assessing the appropriate accounting recognition for each contractual element identified within these contractual 
arrangements.

Comparative figures

Current and prior year mine preparation costs have been removed from construction in progress and presented separately in the 
fixed asset continuity schedule in Note 7. 

On December 30, 2020, pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction, the Company effected a share consolidation of outstanding 
common shares on a twelve-for-one basis. These consolidated financial statements give retroactive effect to the share 
consolidation and all share and per share amounts have been adjusted accordingly, unless otherwise noted.

3.     SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Inventories 

Inventories represent unprocessed mined sand, work in progress and sand available for shipment, as well as spare parts and 
supplies. The Company values inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable value.

Cost is determined using the weighted average cost method. Cost includes the cost of mining of the sand as well as the direct labor 
costs, utility costs, transportation costs and other processing costs to wash and dry the sand, as well as depreciation directly 
attributable to production equipment and depreciation of capitalized stripping activities.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less applicable selling expenses. When the weighted average cost of inventories 
exceeds the net realizable value, inventory is written down to the net realizable value. All write-downs are charged to cost of goods 
sold. The amount of the write-down may be reversed (up to original amount of the write-down) when there is a change in economic 
circumstances.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s presentation currency. Each 
entity of the consolidated financial statements is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The financial statements of the entities that have a different functional currency are 
translated into Canadian dollars. Assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange at the statement of financial position 
date, revenue and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the period (as this is considered a reasonable 
approximation of actual rates), and gains and losses in translation are recognized in shareholders’ equity as a cumulative 
translation adjustment.

Foreign currency transactions in entities that have Canadian dollars as the functional currency are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of foreign currency translation and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in currencies other than an entity’s functional currency are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations 
and comprehensive income (loss).

Property, plant and equipment

All costs directly associated with the purchase and development of property, plant and equipment are capitalized and reflected at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and net impairment losses. Costs of replacing parts of property, plant and equipment are 
capitalized only when they increase the future economic benefits embodied in the specific assets to which they relate. All other 
expenditures are recognized in income as incurred. The carrying amount of any replaced or sold component is derecognized. The 
costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss) as incurred.

Exchanges or swaps of property, plant and equipment are measured at fair value unless the transaction lacks commercial 
substance or neither the fair value of the asset received nor the asset given up can be reliably estimated. When fair value is not 
used, the cost of the acquired asset is measured at the carrying amount of the asset given up. Any gains or losses from the 
divestiture of property and equipment are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income 
(loss).
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Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is provided using the straight line method at the following annual rates approximating 
their estimated useful lives in years:

Buildings 20
Equipment 7 - 20
Vehicles 5 - 7
Computer hardware and software 3 - 5

Depreciation of an asset or an asset under construction begins when it is available for use. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the 
earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale and the date that the asset is derecognized. Depreciation does not 
cease when the asset becomes idle or is retired from active use unless the asset is fully depreciated.

The Company allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item of property and equipment to its significant 
components and depreciates separately each such component where applicable.

The Company adheres to IFRIC 20 “stripping costs in the production phase of a surface mine”. During the production phase of the 
mine, stripping costs incurred that provide access to a component of reserves that will be produced in future periods and that would 
not have otherwise been accessible are capitalized. The costs qualifying for capitalization are those costs directly incurred to 
perform the stripping activity that improves access to the resource body. The stripping activity asset is included as part of the 
carrying amount of the mining property. Capitalized stripping costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the production period 
they relate to. 

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed for indicators of 
impairment at each reporting period. If indicators of impairment exist, the recoverable amount of the assets is estimated. For 
purposes of assessing impairment, property, plant and equipment and intangibles are grouped into CGUs, defined as the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable independent cash inflows.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is the greater of its fair value less costs to dispose and its value in use. Fair value is determined 
to be the amount for which the asset would be sold in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties. 
Value in use is determined by estimating the present value of the future net cash flows to be derived from the continued use of the 
CGU in its present form. These cash flows are discounted at a rate based on the time value of money and risks specific to the 
CGU.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss recognized in respect of a CGU is allocated to reduce the carrying amounts of the assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. 
Impairment losses are recognized in consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Impairment losses recognized in prior years are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or 
no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.

Leases

On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”), which replaced IAS 17 Leases. The Company used the 
modified retrospective approach where it recognized the right-of-use (“RoU”) assets and lease liabilities at the present value of the 
remaining lease payments, which were discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate of 8% as of January 1, 2019. 
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance expense. The Company used the following practical expedients 
permitted by IFRS 16: 

• the use of a single discount rate for a portfolio of leases with similar characteristics; 
• the accounting for leases with a remaining lease term of less than twelve months as at January 1, 2019 as short-term 

leases for certain classes of assets; 
• the accounting for lease payments as expenses on leases for which the underlying asset is of low dollar value; 
• the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate a lease; and 
• the Company will not apply any grandfathering practical expedients. 

RoU assets are measured at cost which includes the following:
• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; 
• lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received; and 
• initial direct costs.

RoU assets are depreciated over the shorter of an asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The Company's 
lease contracts may contain termination, renewal and/or purchase options which are evaluated by the Company on a regular basis. 
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The majority of renewal options available extend lease terms from one to five years and are accounted for when the Company is 
reasonably certain that it will exercise one of these options. 

The Company enters into short-term and long-term lease arrangements for freight cars and locomotives, vehicles and equipment 
and real estate. The Company determines whether or not the contract contains a lease at inception. Payments associated with 
short-term leases for certain classes of assets and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis in the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) in the period in which they are incurred. 

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized by the Company when all of the following apply: (i) it has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events, (ii) it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and (iii) a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of that obligation. The obligation is not recorded and is disclosed as a contingent liability if any 
of the following apply: (i) it is not probable that an outflow will be required, (ii) the amount cannot be estimated reliably, or (iii) the 
existence of the outflow can only be confirmed by the occurrence of a future event.

Decommissioning provision

Decommissioning provision is recognized for decommissioning and restoration obligations associated with the Company’s mining 
reserves. The best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligations at the statement of financial position date 
is recorded on a discounted basis using the pre-tax risk-free interest rate at each reporting date. The future cash flow estimates are 
adjusted to reflect the risks specific to the liability. The value of the provision is added to the carrying amount of the associated 
property, plant and equipment asset and is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. The provision is accreted over time through 
charges to finance expenses. Changes in the future cash flow estimates resulting from revisions to the estimated timing or amount 
of undiscounted cash flows or the discount rate are recognized as changes in the decommissioning provision and related assets. 
Actual decommissioning expenditures up to the recorded liability at the time are charged against the provision as the costs are 
incurred. Any differences between the recorded liability and the actual costs incurred are recorded as a gain/loss in the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Income taxes

Current and deferred income tax expenses are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income (loss) except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current income taxes for current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be payable or recoverable from the 
taxation authorities based on the income tax rates enacted at the end of the period.

Deferred income tax is recognized using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities and the carrying amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred income tax liabilities are generally recognized 
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all temporary differences deductible to the extent 
future recovery is probable. The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be generated to allow for all or part of the asset 
to be recovered. Deferred income tax balances are calculated using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates. Deferred income 
tax balances are adjusted to reflect changes in income tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted with the adjustment 
being recognized in the period the change occurs, except items recognized in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if both of the following thresholds are met: (i) there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset and (ii) the deferred tax assets and liabilities either relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same 
taxable entity, or the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on different 
taxable entities where such different taxable entities either intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or will 
have their tax assets and liabilities realized simultaneously.

Deferred income tax is not recognized on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business 
combination when, at the time of the transaction, such deferred income tax does not affect either accounting income or taxable 
income.

Revenue recognition

The Company’s revenue, which is comprised principally of sand sales and other services, is generally subject to contractual 
arrangements, which specify price and general terms and conditions. The Company recognizes sand sales when the contractual 
obligations are satisfied (typically when control of the product is transferred), while also considering if it has retained any material 
involvement in the sand being sold and if the revenue and costs related to the sale can be measured reliably. The Company has 
long-term revenue contracts in place with certain customers that include take-or-pay commitments over the term of the contracts, 
where the Company recognizes revenue as the product is sold, or in accordance with the terms of the contracts. Revenue for third-
party sand and chemical distribution is recognized based on contractual arrangements or when services have been completed. 
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Revenue for wellsite solutions is recognized when services are provided. Revenue for rental of storage facilities is recognized on a 
monthly basis. 

The Company offers certain arrangements whereby customers can purchase products and services together. Where such bundled 
arrangements exist, the amount of the transaction price allocated to each performance obligation is based upon the relative stand-
alone selling prices of each distinct product or service in the contract. The best evidence of a stand-alone selling price is the 
observable price of a product or service when the Company sells that product or service separately in similar circumstances and to 
similar customers.

When a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the Company estimates using the residual approach method to 
determine a value that most reasonably reflects the selling price that might be achieved in a stand-alone contract with a customer. 

Finance income and expenses

Finance income, consisting of interest income, is recognized as it accrues in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income (loss), using the effective interest method.

Finance expense comprises interest expense on borrowings, costs incurred to obtain financing and impairment losses recognized 
on financial assets. Amounts paid to financial institutions for the purpose of borrowing funds are capitalized upon recognition and 
are offset against the outstanding obligation to the financial institution. These costs are amortized over the remaining term of the 
facility placed.

Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 
incur expenses. The Company has one operating segment.

Earnings (loss) per share

Earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to common and Class B shareholders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of common shares and Class B shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings 
per share is calculated by adjusting the earnings and number of shares for the effects of dilutive options and other dilutive potential 
shares. The effects of anti-dilutive potential shares are ignored in calculating diluted earnings per share. All options are considered 
anti-dilutive when the Company is in a loss position. As at December 31, 2020, no options remain outstanding and all issued and 
outstanding Class B shares were converted to common shares.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Source Energy Services Ltd. and its subsidiaries, which are entities 
over which Source has control. Control exists when the Company is exposed to, or has right to, variable returns from its 
involvement with an entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated 
from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date 
that such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as Source, and 
the accounting policies are aligned with the policies adopted by Source. All intercompany balances and income and expenses have 
been eliminated upon preparation of the consolidated financial statements. As at December 31, 2020, all subsidiaries are 100% 
owned. Previously, Source Energy Services Canada LP had a 3.74% non-controlling interest which was eliminated upon the 
conversion of the Class B shares prior to completion of the Recapitalization Transaction. 

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests represent equity interests in subsidiaries owned by outside parties. The share of net assets of subsidiaries 
attributable to non-controlling interests is presented as a component of equity. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in 
a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests, even if doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit 
balance.

Share-based payments

The Company’s share-based compensation plan (the “Plan”), effective as of April 13, 2017, is available to directors, officers and 
certain employees as determined by the Company’s Board. The Plan allows for the granting of options to purchase common shares 
to a maximum number equal to 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the Company. The price of each share 
purchase option granted is set by the Company’s Board based on the market value of the Company’s shares on the date of the 
grant. As at December 31, 2020, no options are outstanding.

Under the Plan, any cumulative expense is calculated at each statement of financial position date before vesting, representing the 
extent to which the vesting period has expired and management’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will 
ultimately vest.
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The fair value of options is measured by using the Black-Scholes model. The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed 
for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. The model requires 
the input of highly subjective assumptions. Expected volatility of the stock is based on a combination of the historical stock price of 
the Company and comparable companies in the industry. The expected term of options represents the period of time that options 
granted are expected to be outstanding. The risk-free rate is based on the Government of Canada’s Canadian Bond Yields with a 
remaining term equal to the expected life of the options used in the Black-Scholes valuation model.

The Company has also granted DSUs, RSUs and PSUs to directors and certain employees. The DSUs, RSUs and PSUs are 
expected to be settled for cash payment and accordingly are considered a liability-settled award for accounting purposes.

Financial Instruments

The Company classifies and measures Financial Assets as follows:

Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 
i. those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or through profit or loss); 

and
ii. those to be measured at amortized cost. The classification depends on the Company’s business model for managing the 

financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either 
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income. The Company reclassifies debt investments and financial 
assets when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in 
profit or loss. Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining their fair value. 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on the Company’s business model for managing the asset and the cash 
flow characteristics of the asset.

There are three measurement categories into which the Company classifies its financial assets:
i. Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely 

payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included 
in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognized directly 
in profit or loss and presented together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as a 
separate line item in profit or loss;

ii. Fair value through other comprehensive income: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for 
selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other 
comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange 
gains and losses which are recognized in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognized in 
other gains and losses. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective 
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains or losses and impairment expenses 
are presented as a separate line item in profit or loss; and

iii. Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income are measured at fair value through profit or less. A gain or loss on a financial asset that is 
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss is recognized in profit or loss and presented net within other 
gains or losses in the period in which it arises.

Newly Adopted Accounting Policies

Government assistance

Claims for assistance under various government grant programs are recorded as a reduction of the cost of the related expenses in 
the period in which the eligible expenditures are incurred. Where government grants are provided in the form of a forgivable loan, 
proceeds are recorded as a financial liability and not recognized as a reduction of the cost of the related expenses incurred until 
reasonable assurance of forgiveness has been obtained.
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New and amended standards 

The following amendments have been issued by the IASB and were adopted by the Company on January 1, 2020:

• Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
• Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)
• Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)

The Company completed its assessment of the impact of the amendments and concluded that they do not have a material impact 
on the consolidated financial statements. 

4.     FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

(a)         Risk management overview

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Further 
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements. The Company employs risk management 
strategies and polices to ensure that any exposures to risk are in compliance with the Company’s business objectives and risk 
tolerance levels. While the Board has the overall responsibility for the Company’s risk management framework, the Company’s 
management has the responsibility to administer and monitor these risks.

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying values due to the 
short-term maturity of those instruments. The fair value of the credit facilities approximate their carrying values as they bear interest 
at floating market rates consistent with market rates for similar debt. 

The Company analyzes financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as 
follows:

Level 1: Values based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, accessible at the 
measurement date.

Level 2: Values based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or model inputs that are observable either directly or 
indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3: Values based on prices or valuation techniques that require inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

A financial instrument is classified as Level 3 if one or more of its unobservable inputs may significantly affect the measurement of 
its fair value. Appropriate inputs are chosen so that they are consistent with market evidence or management judgment. Due to the 
unobservable nature of the inputs, there may be uncertainty about the value of Level 3 financial instruments.

Carrying 
amount

Fair Value
December 31, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss:

Derivative asset(1) $ (1,471) $ — $ — $ (1,471) 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost:

$142.2M of senior secured notes(1) $ 125,493 $ — $ — $ 126,044 
Lease liabilities – current $ 11,036 $ — $ 11,036 $ — 
Lease liabilities – long-term $ 31,293 $ — $ 31,293 $ — 

Notes:
(1) Upon closing of the Recapitalization Transaction (refer to Note 13), the $142.2M senior secured notes, which contain prepayment options (refer to Note 10), were 

issued on December 30, 2020, with no trading activity reported for the year ended December 31, 2020. The fair value for these newly-issued securities was 
determined using various inputs including the specific components of the instruments, market interest rates and Source’s credit spread. At December 31, 2020, 
the fair value of the $142.2M senior secured notes was $126,044. The fair value of the prepayment options was $1,471 and have been classified as a derivative 
asset. The $142.2M senior secured notes and the derivative asset have been presented on a net basis in the consolidated statements of financial position.

Carrying 
amount

Fair Value
December 31, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial liabilities at amortized cost:

$157.7M of senior secured notes $ 150,028 $ 76,489 $ — $ — 
Lease liabilities – current $ 19,706 $ — $ 19,706 $ — 
Lease liabilities – long-term $ 40,319 $ — $ 40,319 $ — 
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(c) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. Substantially all of the Company’s accounts receivable are due from purchasers of proppants and logistics 
services and are subject to normal industry credit risk.

The Company’s revenues are generally derived from a group of large and reputable oilfield exploration and production companies 
and oilfield services customers. Orders for proppants are subject to the Company’s credit and collection programs. The Company’s 
five largest customers account for 84% of the revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020, with the three largest making up 
71% of revenue (year ended December 31, 2019, five customers accounted for 81%, three customers accounted for 69%). Three 
of those customers (three for the year ended December 31, 2019) account for 10% or more of total revenue individually in the year 
ended December 31, 2020.

Significant changes in industry conditions will increase the risk of not collecting receivables. Management believes the risk is 
materially mitigated by the size and reputation of the companies to which they extend credit. As at December 31, 2020, the 
Company’s trade and accrued receivables, net of loss allowances, were comprised of the following:

As at December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Not yet due $ 19,712 $ 28,261 
0 – 30 days  13,891  19,596 
31 – 60 days  40  697 
61 – 90 days  1  857 
91+ days  —  127 
Total trade and other receivables $ 33,644 $ 49,538 

The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of accounts receivable on the balance sheet. During the year 
ended December 31, 2020, Source wrote off $1,580 of receivables related to an oilfield services customer, not under contract, that 
filed for creditor protection. Source has filed a Proof of Claim for amounts owed related to this write-off and is awaiting confirmation 
of potential recoveries.

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts based on 
the lifetime expected credit loss provision. The Company uses an allowance matrix to estimate the credit losses of trade 
receivables from customers. The matrix considers historical default rates as well as the days past due. The current operating 
climate has had a significant impact on general credit risk (refer to Note 2 for additional detail related to the impact of COVID-19). 
The Company has taken these factors into consideration as part of its credit evaluations and assessment of credit risk.	 

A loss allowance of $272 was recorded as at December 31, 2020:

As at December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Balance, beginning of year  80 $ 41 
Increase (decrease) in loss allowance recognized in statement of operations during the year  (17)  39 
Specific provision for receivables deemed uncollectible  209  — 
Balance, end of year $ 272 $ 80 

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The Company’s 
approach to managing liquidity risk includes preparing operating and capital budgets and forecasts and monitoring performance 
against the budgets and forecasts. The Company may seek additional financing based on the results of these processes. The 
Company’s ongoing liquidity is impacted by various external events and conditions, including foreign currency fluctuations and 
commodity price fluctuations as well as global economic conditions.

The financial liabilities on the consolidated statements of financial position consist of accounts payable and accrued liabilities, lease 
liabilities, long-term debt and senior secured notes. The Company manages this risk through detailed monitoring of budgeted and 
projected operating results and cash requirements.

The Company expects to repay its financial liabilities in the normal course of operations and to fund future operational and capital 
requirements through operating cash flow, as well as future debt and equity financings. The completion of the Recapitalization 
Transaction resulted in improved financial strength of the Company through the extension of the maturity of the senior secured 
notes, the addition of a new senior secured term loan and an amendment to Source’s existing credit facility to further facilitate the 
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management of liquidity risk. Refer to Note 2 for additional information relating to the impact of COVID-19 on liquidity risk and Note 
13 for additional information relating to the Recapitalization Transaction.

The Company’s contractual cash outflows relating to financial liabilities are outlined in the table below:

As at December 31, 2020 Total 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
2026 and 

beyond
Accounts payable and accruals $ 33,219 $ 33,219 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — 
Lease liabilities(1) $ 46,762 $ 13,456 $ 9,720 $ 7,727 $ 6,612 $ 4,021 $ 5,226 
Credit facilities(2) $ 22,166 $ — $ 7,500 $ 14,666 $ — $ — $ — 
Contract liabilities $ 776 $ 776 $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — 
Notes payable(3) $ 216,316 $ — $ 12,840 $ 17,167 $ 17,174 $ 169,135 $ — 

Notes:
(1) Includes interest for future periods.
(2) The timing and amount of interest payments on such balances will fluctuate depending on balances outstanding and applicable interest rates.
(3) Includes interest for future periods and assumes the Company will elect to pay interest in kind at a rate of 12.5% through February 15, 2022 and subsequently 

pay interest in cash at 10.5% (refer to Note 10 for additional information).

(e) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Company’s net 
earnings or the value of financial instruments and are largely outside the control of the Company. The objective of the Company is 
to manage and mitigate market risk exposures within acceptable limits while maximizing returns. Primary market risks are as 
follows:

Foreign currency risk

The Company is exposed to currency price risk on sales denominated in United States (“US”) dollars to the extent that the receipt 
of payment of the US denominated accounts receivable are subject to fluctuations in the related foreign exchange rate. In addition, 
foreign currency risk exists on the cost of manufacturing of inventory for sale to the extent that the payment of those costs are 
foreign denominated accounts payable and are subject to fluctuations in the foreign exchange rate. Included in accounts receivable 
and accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2020 are $18,490 (December 31, 2019 - $31,413) and $14,924 
(December 31, 2019 - $31,938) denominated in foreign currency, respectively. The net effect of each 1% change in foreign 
exchange would impact net income (loss) by $849 for the year ended December 31, 2020 ($1,002 in 2019). 

The Company previously had a customer contract that included foreign exchange rate collars. The embedded derivative was 
separated from the contract and accounted for as a derivative asset or liability at fair value through profit or loss based on valuation 
techniques that were not based on observable market data. The fair value of the derivative asset as at December 31, 2020 was $nil 
(December 31, 2019 - $nil). The Company had entered into the following foreign exchange rate collars to help mitigate the risk 
associated with the embedded derivative contained in the above noted customer contract. The fair value of the derivative is based 
on the US dollar to Canadian dollar foreign exchange forward curve. The collars were wound up and settled in January 2020.

Notional amount of 
Contract (per month) Exchange rate floor

Notional amount of 
Contract (per month) Exchange rate ceiling Contract expiry

USD $1,500  1.25 USD $3,000  1.36 January 2020
USD $1,500  1.25 USD $3,000  1.40 January 2020

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. The Company is 
exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that changes in market interest rates impact its borrowings under the floating rate credit 
facility and the senior secured term loan. The Company is exposed to interest rate price risk on the long-term debt that bears 
interest at floating rates. The net effect of each 1% change in market interest rates would impact the related interest expense 
(income) for the Company’s floating rate borrowings by $236 at December 31, 2020 ($290 at December 31, 2019). The Company 
had no interest rate swaps or financial contracts in place as at or during the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 
2019.

(f) Capital management

The Company’s capital management policy is to maintain a strong capital base that optimizes the Company’s ability to grow, 
maintain shareholder and creditor confidence and to provide a platform to create value for its common shareholders. The 
Company’s management is responsible for managing the Company’s capital and does so through regular reviews of financial 
information including budgets and forecasts. The Company’s directors are responsible for overseeing this process. The Company 
considers its capital structure to include equity, senior secured notes, credit facilities and leases. In response to industry challenges 
and an operating environment further impacted by COVID-19, Source completed a Recapitalization Transaction on December 30, 
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2020, which resulted in a stronger, long-term capital structure and enhanced access to liquidity. Refer to Note 13 for additional 
information related to the Recapitalization Transaction. 

The Company monitors capital based on its current working capital, available bank line, projected cash flow from operations and 
anticipated capital expenditures. In order to manage its capital structure, the Company prepares annual capital expenditure and 
operating budgets, which are updated as necessary. The annual and updated budgets are prepared by the Company’s 
management and approved by the Company’s Board.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may issue share capital, seek debt financing and adjust its capital 
spending to manage its current and projected capital structure. The Company’s ability to raise additional debt or equity financing is 
impacted by external conditions, including global economic conditions. The Company continually monitors economic and general 
business conditions.

The Company’s share capital is not subject to external restrictions; however, the amount of the bank operating facility available for 
use is determined by levels of accounts receivable and inventory. Pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction and the amended 
and restated credit agreement, the Company is subject to externally imposed capital requirements for the asset backed loan 
(“ABL”) facility as follows: 

• a minimum level of excess availability of $5,000;
• commencing December 31, 2020, a minimum level of the average of the prior three months trailing twelve months of 

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization ending at predetermined dates through December 31, 2022 
and calculated at each fiscal calendar month, equal to $8,500 for 2020 and a range of $8,500 to $12,000 for 2021;

• maximum capital expenditures totaling $6,000 plus permitted capital expenditures, for each of the fiscal calendar years 
ended 2020, 2021 and 2022 and increased to $8,000 for 2023; and

• commencing June 30, 2022, a springing fixed charge ratio of 1.10:1 which shall increase to 1.25:1 on September 30, 2022 
and all time thereafter. The fixed charge coverage ratio is defined as the ratio of (i) earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortization for the twelve calendar months ending at each fiscal calendar month end less unfinanced 
capital expenditures, cash taxes and distributions to shareholders and (ii) the interest expense paid in cash plus accrued 
and unpaid interest related to the senior secured notes due 2025 for the twelve calendar months ending at such fiscal 
calendar month. 

The Company’s capital management policy has not changed during the years ended December 31, 2020 or December 31, 2019.

5.     SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

Changes in non-cash operating assets and liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

2020 2019
Accounts receivable $ 15,680 $ (24,878) 
Prepaid expenses and deposits  (1,914)  2,864 
Inventory  3,144  7,605 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (11,291)  8,738 
Changes in non-cash working capital $ 5,619 $ (5,671) 

Changes in non-cash investing assets and liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

2020 2019
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ (1,428) $ 21 
Changes in non-cash working capital $ (1,428) $ 21 
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Senior secured
notes

ABL facility and 
senior secured

term loan
As at December 31, 2018 $ 146,869 $ (477) 
Cash changes:
Proceeds  —  68,002 
Repayments  —  (38,805) 
Non-cash and other changes:
Accretion  3,159  222 
Unrealized foreign exchange gain  —  (152) 
Financing costs incurred  —  (133) 
As at December 31, 2019 $ 150,028 $ 28,657 
Cash changes:
Proceeds  —  61,031 
Repayments  —  (66,644) 
Non-cash and other changes:
Extinguishment of debt(1)  (29,100)  — 
Interest paid in kind(2)  97  — 
Accretion  3,655  365 
Unrealized foreign exchange gain  —  303 
Financing costs incurred  (658)  (1,546) 
As at December 31, 2020 $ 124,022 $ 22,166 

Notes:
(1) As part of the Recapitalization Transaction the $157.7M senior secured notes were exchanged for $142.2M senior secured notes, resulting in a gain on 

extinguishment of debt. Refer to Note 13 for additional information.
(2) Under the terms of the $142.2M senior secured notes, Source has the option to pay interest in kind, at a rate of 12.5%, for all quarterly interest payments through 

February 15, 2022. Refer to Note 10 for additional information.

6.     INVENTORIES 

Inventory consists of three main classifications:

As at December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Unprocessed sand and work in progress $ 28,519 $ 32,358 
Sand available for shipment  21,706  24,060 
Spare parts and supplies  3,242  4,512 
Total inventories $ 53,467 $ 60,930 

Spare parts and supplies are for routine facilities maintenance. Included in the inventory balance is the depreciation expense 
related to sand producing properties of $10,021 as at December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $14,080). The total amount of 
inventory expensed through cost of sales during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $158,791 (year ended December 31, 
2019 - $207,778). Under the normal course of operations, no inventory write-downs or reversals of prior write-downs were recorded 
during the year ended December 31, 2020. Sand inventory of $627 was written off as a result of the damaged assets that were 
under construction at Fox Creek in 2019. 

SOURCE ENERGY SERVICES LTD.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

(All amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

  Page 16



7.     PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Land &
Building

Equipment &
Vehicles Other

Construction
in Progress

Mine
Preparation

Costs Total
Cost
Balance as at December 31, 2018 $ 220,824 $ 184,730 $ 6,005 $ 43,118 $ 10,161 $ 464,838 

Additions(1)  (1,994)  537  149  20,784  3,691  23,167 
Disposals  —  (351)  (2)  —  —  (353) 
Completed construction in progress  7,666  22,359  301  (30,326)  —  — 
Transfers  —  (101)  —  —  —  (101) 
Write-off of damaged Fox Creek assets 
under construction  —  —  —  (10,071)  —  (10,071) 
Write-down of assets  (12,701)  (3,487)  (2)  —  —  (16,190) 
Exchange differences  (7,894)  (6,671)  (164)  (919)  (565)  (16,213) 

Balance as at December 31, 2019 $ 205,901 $ 197,016 $ 6,287 $ 22,586 $ 13,287 $ 445,077 
Additions  559  150  —  2,256  1,341  4,306 
Disposals  —  (268)  (4)  (248)  —  (520) 
Completed construction in progress  4  1,930  137  (2,071)  —  — 
Transfers(2)  —  (1,171)  —  —  —  (1,171) 
Exchange differences  (3,167)  (2,807)  (74)  (119)  (331)  (6,498) 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 $ 203,297 $ 194,850 $ 6,346 $ 22,404 $ 14,297 $ 441,194 
Notes:
(1) The negative addition is due to the change in estimate of the decommissioning provision on adoption of IFRS 16.
(2) Reflects transfers of RoU assets.

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at December 31, 2018 $ (36,130) $ (46,206) $ (4,623) $ — $ (6,940) $ (93,899) 

Depreciation  (11,457)  (15,642)  (763)  —  —  (27,862) 
Write-down of assets  4,732  1,588  1  —  —  6,321 
Impairment  (16,787)  (15,320)  (131)  —  —  (32,238) 
Disposals  —  121  1  —  —  122 
Transfers  —  158  —  —  —  158 
Exchange differences  1,541  1,938  150  —  (4,375)  (746) 

Balance as at December 31, 2019 $ (58,101) $ (73,363) $ (5,365) $ — $ (11,315) $ (148,144) 
Depreciation  (8,029)  (9,497)  (448)  —  (3,144)  (21,118) 
Impairment  (75,371)  (67,565)  (409)  —  —  (143,345) 
Disposals  —  263  2  —  —  265 
Transfers(1)  —  166  —  —  —  166 
Exchange differences  5,844  5,598  83  —  384  11,909 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 $ (135,657) $ (144,398) $ (6,137) $ — $ (14,075) $ (300,267) 

Carrying amounts
December 31, 2019 $ 147,800 $ 123,653 $ 922 $ 22,586 $ 1,972 $ 296,933 
December 31, 2020 $ 67,640 $ 50,452 $ 209 $ 22,404 $ 222 $ 140,927 

Note:
(1) Reflects transfers of RoU assets.

Assets under construction represent facilities that are being built at period end. Assets under construction are not amortized until 
the asset is deemed to be ready for use. Once deemed ready for use, the assets under construction will be allocated to their 
corresponding capital asset group and commence depreciating.

As at March 31, 2020, as a result of the weakening economic climate due to COVID-19 and the decrease in global demand for 
crude oil, the Company carried out an assessment of the recoverable value of its operations using both a discounted cash flow and 
an earnings multiple approach. A discounted cash flow analysis over five years was completed using a discount rate tied to its 
current cost of capital. The discounted cash flow projections were based on cash flow forecasts, forecasted earnings before 
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, historical experience, actual operating results and industry trends and forecasts. 
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Significant assumptions included a revenue growth rate and a discount rate of 15.1%. The earnings multiple approach considered 
multiples of comparable public companies. As a result of the assessment, an impairment expense was recognized during the 
period of which a portion was allocated to the deferred tax asset and $143,656 was allocated to property, plant and equipment 
(December 31, 2019 - $61,215). At December 31, 2020, the discounted cash flow analysis was updated using a discount rate of 
16.1% and the Company concluded no further impairment was required. A sensitivity analysis was performed and management 
noted that an increase of 2% in discount rates would not result in further impairment losses. 

8.     RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 

Land &
Building

Equipment &
Vehicles Rail cars Total

Cost
Balance as at January 1, 2019 $ 7,409 $ 10,224 $ 58,438 $ 76,071 

Additions  879  6,640  1,387  8,906 
Expired leases  (92)  (1,857)  (2,532)  (4,481) 
Exchange differences  (28)  (487)  (2,643)  (3,158) 

Balance as at December 31, 2019 $ 8,168 $ 14,520 $ 54,650 $ 77,338 
Additions(1)  1,126  7,748  (11,117)  (2,243) 
Expired leases  (772)  (5,781)  (1,358)  (7,911) 
Transfers(2)  —  1,171  —  1,171 
Exchange differences  (12)  (393)  (521)  (926) 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 $ 8,510 $ 17,265 $ 41,654 $ 67,429 
Notes:
(1) Includes lease modifications for certain leases completed in the year (refer to Note 11 for additional information related to the modifications).
(2) Reflects transfers of RoU assets from property, plant and equipment.

Accumulated depreciation
Balance as at January 1, 2019 $ — $ — $ — $ — 

Depreciation  (1,678)  (9,289)  (15,135)  (26,102) 
Expired leases  92  1,857  2,532  4,481 
Exchange differences  3  153  263  419 

Balance as at December 31, 2019  (1,583)  (7,279)  (12,340)  (21,202) 
Depreciation  (2,638)  (7,285)  (11,186)  (21,109) 
Expired leases  772  5,781  1,358  7,911 
Transfers(1)  —  (166)  —  (166) 
Exchange differences  9  188  727  924 

Balance as at December 31, 2020 $ (3,440) $ (8,761) $ (21,441) $ (33,642) 

Carrying amounts
December 31, 2019 $ 6,585 $ 7,241 $ 42,310 $ 56,136 
December 31, 2020 $ 5,070 $ 8,504 $ 20,213 $ 33,787 

Note:
(1) Reflects transfers of RoU assets from property, plant and equipment.

9.     INCOME TAXES 

During the second quarter of 2019, the Government of Alberta enacted new legislation to reduce the provincial corporate income 
tax rate from 12% to 8%. Under the new legislation, the tax rate will decline by 1% each year over the next four taxation years 
beginning July 1, 2019, resulting in a combined federal and provincial corporate tax rate of 23% by 2022. Deferred income tax 
benefits have not been recognized in respect of temporary differences.

SOURCE ENERGY SERVICES LTD.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

(All amounts are in thousands of Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted)

  Page 18



The following table reconciles the Company's expected income tax expense relative to the current effective Canadian statutory rate 
of 24% (2019 - 26.5%) for the years indicated:

2020 2019
Loss before income taxes $ (154,116) $ (113,896) 
Statutory income tax rate  24.00 %  26.50 %
Expected income taxes  (36,988)  (30,182) 
Increase (decrease) in taxes from:
Non-deductible expenses (non-taxable income)  (5,325)  389 
Share based compensation  3  33 
Unrealized foreign exchange and derivatives  —  (393) 
Prior period adjustments  1,762  206 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets  70,490  3,490 
Provincial tax rate change  740  2,803 
Rate differential on foreign activities  351  (621) 
Other  317  334 
Total income tax expense (recovery) $ 31,350 $ (23,941) 

Significant components of deferred income tax include: 

As at December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Difference between tax and reported amounts for depreciable assets $ 21,019 $ (4,482) 
Finance fees  2,155  2,275 
Foreign exchange on loans  9,742  6,064 
Tax loss carryforwards recognized  26,380  23,618 
Decommissioning provision  2,535  2,720 
Mine development costs  709  879 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets  (64,039)  — 
Other  1,499  (500) 
Deferred income tax asset $ — $ 30,574 

The movements in deferred tax balances during the year are as follows: 

As at December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Opening deferred tax asset $ 30,574 $ 6,610 
Recognized in net income  (31,350)  23,941 
Exchange differences  776  23 
Closing deferred tax asset $ — $ 30,574 

The deferred income tax assets (liabilities) by jurisdiction are: 

As at December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Canada  —  20,133 
Foreign  —  10,441 
Deferred income tax asset $ — $ 30,574 

The Recapitalization Transaction resulted in the application of debt forgiveness rules related to the extinguishment of the $157.7M 
senior secured notes. However, no current income tax was realized as the income inclusion from the application of the rules was 
fully offset by non-capital losses. The Company has Canadian and foreign non-capital losses as at December 31, 2020 of $94,990 
(December 31, 2019 - $56,230) and $13,757 (December 31, 2019 - $37,807), respectively. Canadian and foreign losses expire 
beginning in 2037.
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10.     LONG-TERM DEBT

As at December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
$142.2M senior secured notes, due March 15, 2025, bearing interest at 10.5% per 
annum (a) $ 125,493 $ — 
Derivative asset for $142.2M senior secured notes prepayment options (a)  (1,471)  — 
$157.7M senior secured notes, due December 15, 2021, bearing interest at 
10.5% per annum (b)  —  150,028 
ABL facility maturing September 2023. Interest is based on floating rates dependent 
upon the form of advance drawn (c)  3,736  29,046 
$20M senior secured term loan due September 2023, bearing interest at prime plus 
6.0% per annum (d)  20,000  — 
Unamortized debt issuance costs for the credit facilities (d)  (1,570)  (389) 
Other long-term debt (e)  1,093  155 
Total long-term debt $ 147,281 $ 178,840 
Less: current portion  —  — 
Long-term portion $ 147,281 $ 178,840 

(a) Senior secured notes due 2025

On December 30, 2020, as part of the Recapitalization Transaction, Source issued $142,238 in aggregate principal of new senior 
secured notes (the “Notes”), which bear interest at 10.5% and mature March 15, 2025. The Company has the option to defer 
payment of interest owed in cash and pay interest in kind, at a rate of 12.5%, for all quarterly interest payments due on or before 
February 15, 2022, through the issuance of additional notes. The Notes are secured by a fixed and floating charge over all assets 
of the business, except for an amount up to a maximum of $20,000, plus accrued interest and fees, for amounts committed under 
the senior secured term loan, as outlined below. The Notes also have a second charge on accounts receivable and inventory. 
Transaction fees of $658 related to the issuance of the Notes were capitalized and will be amortized over the term of the Notes. 
The Notes were recorded at their fair value of $126,044 (refer to Note 4(b) for additional detail related to the valuation of the 
Notes).

The Notes contain prepayment options, whereby the Company may redeem all or a part of the Notes at any time after December 
31, 2020 at the applicable percentage (2021 - 102%, 2022 - 101%, 2023 and thereafter - 100%), plus accrued and unpaid interest. 
The prepayment options have been classified as a derivative asset which is measured at fair value through profit and loss. At 
December 31, 2020, the fair value of the derivative asset was $1,471. The derivative asset has been presented with the Notes on a 
net basis in the consolidated statements of financial position.

The Notes also contain a mandatory redemption feature for each fiscal year commencing December 31, 2021, whereby Source 
shall redeem the portion of outstanding principal and accrued interest for the Notes that equals 50% of excess cash flows greater 
than $10,000 in the applicable fiscal year. Excess cash flows are defined as cash flows provided by operating activities, less 
maintenance capital expenditures, amounts paid for lease obligations, taxes and amounts of interest or principal prepayments on 
the credit facilities or Notes incurred in the applicable fiscal year.

Interest on the Notes was $97 for the year ended December 31, 2020.

(b) Senior secured notes due 2021

In December 2016, the Company issued $130,000 senior secured notes and an additional $50,000 senior secured notes in May 
2018 (collectively, the “Old Notes”), which bore interest at 10.5% per annum and would have matured December 15, 2021. The Old 
Notes were secured by a fixed and floating charge over all assets of the business except accounts receivable and inventory, over 
which the Old Notes had a second charge. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Recapitalization Transaction, the Old Notes were extinguished and exchanged for the Notes and 
8,465,667 new common shares of Source. Unpaid and accrued interest owing on the Old Notes of $17,238 was added to the 
principal of the Notes. The exchange resulted in a gain on extinguishment of debt of $29,100 for the year ended December 31, 
2020, resulting from the difference between the carrying value of the Old Notes and the fair value of the Notes. All unamortized 
deferred financing fees related to the Old Notes were written off and netted against the gain on extinguishment of the debt. 

Interest on the Old Notes amounted to $16,521 for the year ended December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $16,556). 

(c) ABL facility

On December 30, 2020, as part of the Recapitalization Transaction, the Company’s ABL facility was amended to extend the term to 
mature on September 30, 2023. The facilities bear interest based on the bank’s prime lending rate and CDOR or LIBOR rates, plus 
an applicable margin. The ABL is secured by a floating first lien charge on the accounts receivable and inventory of the Company 
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under a general business security agreement and a second lien charge on all other assets of the business. The amount available 
under the general operating facility is subject to a borrowing base formula applied to accounts receivable and inventories. At 
December 31, 2020, $3,736 was drawn under the ABL facility (less unamortized finance costs of $1,570 for a net balance of 
$2,166) (December 31, 2019 - $29,046). Any excess cash on hand is applied against amounts drawn on the ABL. 

The ABL facility includes a US$5,000 standby letter of credit that does not affect the facility’s borrowing base. The amount 
committed to supporting letters of credit under the facility was $14,560 at December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $17,535). The 
borrowing base is updated monthly, with $17,302 of availability at December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $18,430). 

The revised ABL facility includes the following key financial covenants:

• a minimum level of excess availability of $5,000;
• commencing December 31, 2020, a minimum level of the average of the prior three months trailing twelve months of 

earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization ending at predetermined dates through December 31, 2022 
and calculated at each fiscal calendar month, equal to $8,500 for 2020 and a range of $8,500 to $12,000 for 2021;

• maximum capital expenditures totaling $6,000 plus permitted capital expenditures, for each of the fiscal calendar years 
ended 2020, 2021 and 2022 and increased to $8,000 for 2023; and

• commencing June 30, 2022, a springing fixed charge ratio of 1.10:1 which shall increase to 1.25:1 on September 30, 2022 
and all time thereafter. The fixed charge coverage ratio is defined as the ratio of (i) earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortization for the twelve calendar months ending at each fiscal calendar month end less unfinanced 
capital expenditures, cash taxes and distributions to shareholders and (ii) the interest expense paid in cash plus accrued 
and unpaid interest related to the Notes for the twelve calendar months ending at such fiscal calendar month. 

As of December 31, 2020, Source was in compliance with all of its covenants. Interest on the above facility amounted to $3,860 for 
the year ended December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $3,004). 

(d) Senior secured term loan

As part of the Recapitalization Transaction, Source obtained access to an additional credit facility in the form of a senior secured 
term loan (the “Term Loan”) with an initial principal amount of up to $20,000. The Term Loan bears interest at Canadian prime plus 
6% and matures on September 30, 2023, provided that the Term Loan shall be reduced to $12,500 on March 31, 2022 and further 
reduced to $5,000 on March 31, 2023. The Term Loan is secured by a fixed and floating first charge over all assets of the business. 
As at December 31, 2020, the Term Loan was fully drawn. Interest on the Term Loan was $4 for the year ended December 31, 
2020.

(e) Other long-term debt

In April 2020, the Company applied for the Paycheck Protection Program of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security 
Act, or CARES Act (the “PPP Loan”), administered by the US Small Business Administration. Under the PPP Loan the Company 
received US$2,097 on April 28, 2020, which bears interest at a rate of 1.00% per annum and matures on April 18, 2022. 
Subsequently, as a result of the US Paycheck Protection Flexibility Act, the term of the loan was extended and now matures on 
April 18, 2025. As at December 31, 2020, $982 related to this loan was recorded in other long-term debt. The PPP Loan may be 
prepaid by the Company at any time prior to maturity with no prepayment penalties. The Company can obtain loan forgiveness on 
eligible expenses, including amounts incurred for US payroll costs and US utility expenses during the twenty-four-week period 
following the disbursement received under this program. The Company expects to meet the criteria required for the loan to be fully 
forgiven; however, no recovery related to the loan was recognized as at December 31, 2020.

The effective interest rate realized on long-term debt for the year ended December 31, 2020 was 12.1% (December 31, 2019 - 
11.9%). 
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11.     LEASE LIABILITIES 

As at December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Balance, beginning of year $ 60,025 $ 1,569 
Additions on adoption of IFRS 16  —  76,071 
Additions during year  10,960  9,472 
Lease modifications  (12,774)  (668) 
Lease payments  (15,526)  (23,118) 
Changes in F/X rate  (356)  (3,301) 
Balance, end of year $ 42,329 $ 60,025 
Less: current portion  (11,036)  (19,706) 
Long-term portion $ 31,293 $ 40,319 

The Company incurs lease payments related to rail cars, equipment and vehicles, office buildings and surface leases. Lease 
liabilities are measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments at the incremental borrowing rate of 8%. Leases with 
a lease term of twelve months or less for certain classes of assets and low-value assets of $341 were expensed to cost of sales or 
operating expense in the year ended December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $329). 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company completed the renegotiation of lease contracts with certain of its lessors, 
resulting in a reduction to lease obligations and a modification to the related right-of-use assets. The Company recognized $4,042 
of interest on lease payments for the year ended December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $5,181).

12.     DECOMMISSIONING PROVISION 

As at December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Balance, beginning of year $ 11,249 $ 17,229 
Liabilities incurred  548  1,541 
Liabilities settled  (1,575)  (2,665) 
Accretion  108  190 
Changes in estimate(1)  (143)  (4,333) 
Changes in F/X rate  (218)  (713) 
Balance, end of year $ 9,969 $ 11,249 
Less: current portion  (1,006)  (1,603) 
Long-term portion $ 8,963 $ 9,646 

Note:
(1) The change in estimate of the decommissioning provision in 2019 is due to the adoption of IFRS 16.

The Company’s decommissioning provision relates to reclamation of land and facilities where its mines operate. Management 
estimates the costs to abandon and reclaim its properties based on current reclamation technology, acres disturbed and the 
estimated time period in which these costs will be incurred in the future. The total future estimate of undiscounted cash flows 
required to settle the provision has been discounted using risk-free rates of 0.70% and 1.13% at December 31, 2020 (December 
31, 2019 - 1.61%), for obligations to be settled based on the economic lives of the underlying assets, currently estimated to be 
between 8 and 38 years.

13.    SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

(a) Share capital

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. 

Prior to October 2020, the 1,300,154 Class B shares outstanding were held by SES Sand Holdings US, a subsidiary of TriWest 
Capital Partners (“TriWest”) which is a related party, who owned 3.74% of the shares of Source Energy Services Canada LP, a 
subsidiary of Source. In October 2020, the Class B shares were converted into common shares of Source on a one-for-one basis 
and SES Sand Holdings US became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Source.
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The following table outlines the issued and outstanding common shares as at December 31, 2020: 

(stated in thousands, except share amounts) Number of shares Amount
Balance as at December 31, 2019(1) 5,079,388 $ 397,911 
Class B shares converted to common shares — 91
Shares issued(2) 8,465,667 12,630
Balance as at December 31, 2020 13,545,055 $ 410,632 

Notes:
(1) Prior year shares have been restated to reflect the 12:1 share consolidation pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction.
(2) Pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction, 8,465,667 common shares were issued at $1.50 per share, net of $69 of issue costs.

(b) Normal course issuer bid

In 2019, the Company completed its existing normal course issuer bid (“NCIB”) that allowed Source to purchase and cancel 
106,998 common shares for a total consideration of $1,600 at a weighted average price per share of $14.953.

(stated in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 2020 2019(1)

Number of common shares repurchased  —  106,998 
Weighted average price per share  — $ 14.953 
Amount of repurchase  — $ 1,600 

Note:
(1) Prior year amounts have been restated to reflect the 12:1 share consolidation pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction. 

(c) Recapitalization Transaction

In response to the ongoing downturn in the Western Canadian oil and gas industry, which has been further impacted by the 
COVID-19 pandemic, Source undertook a comprehensive process to improve the Company’s capital structure and better position 
the Company for future growth. On December 30, 2020, the Company completed the Recapitalization Transaction, undertaken 
through a plan of arrangement under the CBCA, which achieved the following:

• immediately prior to the closing of the Recapitalization Transaction, the consolidation of outstanding common shares of 
Source on a twelve-for-one basis;

• a reduction of Source’s principal obligations of $32,710 through the extinguishment of outstanding Old Notes in exchange 
for the Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $142,238, which includes accrued and unpaid interest to closing of the 
Recapitalization Transaction, which mature March 15, 2025, and the issuance of 8,465,667 new common shares of 
Source. The new common shares issued constitute 62.5% of the common shares outstanding, on a fully diluted basis, 
immediately following completion of the Recapitalization Transaction;

• an amendment of the ABL facility, which extended the maturity of the facility to September 30, 2023;
• access to incremental liquidity under the Term Loan in an amount of $20,000 (refer to Note 10 for additional information 

related to the new and revised debt commitments); and
• the reconstitution of Source’s Board through the appointment of two new directors.

The Recapitalization Transaction resulted in a net gain on extinguishment of debt of $27,690 for the year ended December 31, 
2020, comprised of the difference between the carrying value of the Old Notes and the Notes, offset in part by the fair value of the 
equity issuance and net of transaction costs recognized as expense. Total transaction costs incurred as part of the Recapitalization 
Transaction were $7,873, of which $5,949 was expensed, $658 was capitalized as part of the Notes, $1,197 was capitalized as part 
of the amended banking facilities and $69 was offset in equity.

14.     SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 

The Plan, effective as of April 13, 2017, is available to directors, officers and certain employees as determined by the Company’s 
Board. The Plan allows for the granting of options to purchase common shares to a maximum number equal to 10% of the issued 
and outstanding common shares of the Company. The price of each share purchase option granted is set by the Company’s Board 
based on the market value of the Company’s shares on the date of the grant.

Options vest 1/3 on the grant date and 1/3 on the anniversary date of the grant over a two-year period and expire 5 years from the 
issue date. Future grants may not follow this vesting profile.
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As at December 31, 2020, all options issued under the Plan have been surrendered to the Company by management. As a result, 
no options remain outstanding.

Options outstanding(1) Range of exercise price(1)

Outstanding at December 31, 2018  215,070 $126.00
Canceled  (172,056) $126.00
Outstanding at December 31, 2019  43,014 $126.00
Canceled  (43,014) $126.00
Outstanding at December 31, 2020  — $—

Note:
(1) Prior year amounts have been restated to reflect the 12:1 share consolidation pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction.

The liability-settled compensation plans include RSUs, PSUs and DSUs. The following table provides a summary of the status of 
the Company’s liability-settled compensation plans and changes during the year ended December 31, 2020:

(number of units) RSU(1) PSU(1) DSU(1)

Balance at December 31, 2018  38,315  27,374  9,816 
Granted  72,720  26,670  30,126 
Exercised  (13,126)  (432)  (1,755) 
Forfeited  (17,394)  (17,434)  — 
Balance as at December 31, 2019  80,515  36,178  38,187 
Granted  93,757  51,894  46,302 
Exercised  (30,317)  (1,799)  — 
Forfeited  (7,099)  (12,659)  — 
Balance as at December 31, 2020  136,856  73,614  84,489 
Vested as at December 31, 2020  30,325  4,833  28,986 

Note:
(1) Prior year units have been restated to reflect the 12:1 share consolidation pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction.

The RSUs will vest 1/3 on the anniversary date of the grant over a three-year period and expire five years from issue date. Subject 
to achievement of performance criteria set out by the Board, the PSUs awarded will vest 1/3 on the anniversary date of the grant 
over a three-year period and expire five years from the issue date. The RSUs and PSUs may be settled in cash or shares and 
accordingly are considered a liability-settled award for accounting purposes.

The DSUs vest and are expensed over the earlier of three years or when a director or other participant ceases in their role and are 
payable only when a director or participant leaves the Company. The DSUs are expected to be settled for cash payment and 
accordingly are considered a liability-settled award for accounting purposes.

Total share-based compensation expense (recovery) for the share-based payment plans for the year ended December 31, 2020 
was $(14) (December 31, 2019 - $203). 

15.     EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE 

Basic earnings (loss) per share
The calculation of basic earnings (loss) per share for the year ended December 31, 2020 was based on the losses available to 
holders of common shares of $(185,466) (December 31, 2019 - $(88,522)), and a weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2020 of 5,038,320 (December 31, 2019 - 5,007,203).

2020 2019(1)

Common shares outstanding, beginning of year  4,971,042  5,078,040 
Weighted average shares repurchased and canceled under NCIB  —  (70,837) 
Weighted average Class B shares converted to common shares  21,018  — 
Weighted average shares issued due to Recapitalization Transaction  46,260  — 
Weighted average common shares outstanding, end of year  5,038,320  5,007,203 

Note:
(1) Prior year shares have been restated to reflect the 12:1 share consolidation pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction.
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Diluted earnings (loss) per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the earnings and number of shares for the effects of dilutive options and other 
dilutive potential shares. The effects of anti-dilutive options as well as exchangeable shares are ignored in calculating diluted 
earnings per share. As at December 31, 2020, no options remain outstanding and all issued and outstanding Class B shares were 
converted to common shares. At December 31, 2019, the exchangeable shares were not considered dilutive as the Company was 
in a loss position.

16.     REVENUE 

The following table presents the Company’s sales, disaggregated by revenue source: 

2020 2019
Revenue from contracts with customers:
Sand revenue $ 210,021 $ 281,866 
Wellsite solutions  35,144  44,158 
Terminal services  2,186  2,869 
Total revenue from contracts with customers $ 247,351 $ 328,893 
Storage facilities(1)  2,527  4,063 
Total revenue $ 249,878 $ 332,956 

Note:
(1) Storage facilities includes revenue for proppant storage at terminals as well as longer term Sahara rentals. 

Contract Liabilities

The Company entered into an agreement with a customer, effective January 1, 2018, where the Company received $14,761 
(US$11,505) as a prepayment for future purchases of proppant. In consideration of the prepayment, the price per metric tonne to 
the customer was reduced for each tonne of sand sold to the customer. The cash price per tonne is also reduced for each tonne of 
sand sold to or pumped by the customer. The Company expects the period between the transfer of the promised goods to the 
customer and payment by the customer to exceed one year. As such, the Company has adjusted the transaction price for the time 
value of money.

In December 2020, the Company entered into a sale with a customer where the completion of promised services had not been 
fulfilled. Source has recognized deferred revenue for the value of these services which were performed subsequent to December 
31, 2020. 

The following table provides a summary of the contract liability as of December 31, 2020:

As at December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Balance, beginning of year $ 3,160 $ 5,899 
Cash proceeds  536  — 
Satisfaction of performance obligations  (2,617)  (2,453) 
Non-cash interest income  (303)  (286) 
Balance, end of year $ 776 $ 3,160 
Less: current portion  (776)  (2,035) 
Long-term portion $ — $ 1,125 

Minimum revenue estimated to be recognized based on take-or-pay commitments in long-term sales contracts as at December 31, 
2020:

2021 $ 621 
2022  600 
2023  600 
2024  300 
Total $ 2,121 
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17.     OPERATING AND GENERAL & ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS 

The Company presents its expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) using the 
function of expense method whereby expenses are classified according to their function within the Company. This method was 
selected as it is more closely aligned with the Company’s business structure. The Company’s functions under IFRS are as follows:

• Cost of sales; 
• Operating; and
• General & administrative.

Cost of sales includes direct operating costs (including product costs, direct labour and overhead costs) and depreciation on assets 
relating to operations. Additional information on the nature of expenses is as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2020 2019
COS OPEX G&A(1) Total COS OPEX G&A Total

Direct material $ 158,791 $ — $ — $ 158,791 $ 207,767 $ — $ — $ 207,767 
Salary costs(2)  7,085  4,920  4,385  16,390  11,282  8,003  7,946  27,231 
Equipment costs  1,950  1,056  —  3,006  2,308  1,375  16  3,699 
Transportation costs  24,415  —  —  24,415  31,264  —  —  31,264 
Facility costs  792  1,319  51  2,162  681  3,236  169  4,086 
Selling costs  —  5,190  1,772  6,962  —  8,096  53  8,149 
Administration costs  —  —  3,171  3,171  —  —  4,063  4,063 
Total $ 193,033 $ 12,485 $ 9,379 $ 214,897 $ 253,302 $ 20,710 $ 12,247 $ 286,259 

Notes:
(1) Selling costs include an amount written off for receivables deemed uncollectible (refer to Note 4(c) for additional information).
(2) Included in 2020 cost of sales, operating and general & administrative salary costs are wage subsidies of $2,841 received as part of the Canada Emergency 

Wage Subsidy program.

18.     COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

The Company has commitments regarding a physical natural gas contract. The agreement expires March 2023. Estimated annual 
commitments are as follows: 

2021 $ 1,192 
2022  1,192 
2023  314 
Total $ 2,698 

In the ordinary course of conducting business, the Company occasionally becomes involved in legal proceedings relating to 
contracts, environmental issues or other matters. While the amount of any proceeding or litigation is inherently uncertain, 
management of the Company believes that the outcome of any pending or threatened actions will not have a material adverse 
effect on the business or financial condition of the Company. 

19.     FINANCE EXPENSE 

2020 2019
Interest expense $ 25,052 $ 24,169 
Accretion  4,127  3,578 
Finance expense  510  313 
Total $ 29,689 $ 28,060 

20.     OTHER EXPENSE 

In May 2019, an incident occurred during the construction of assets to provide additional storage capacity at the Company’s Fox 
Creek terminal facility which resulted in the dismantlement of all related assets, as well as incremental costs associated with the 
cleanup. Source has received $8,527 of insurance proceeds related to the incident. An investigation into the cause of the incident 
remains underway and further actions will be determined pending its outcome.
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A breakdown of the costs included in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) is as follows:

2020 2019
Write-off of damaged Fox Creek assets $ — $ 10,071 
Other costs related to Fox Creek  298  4,541 
Insurance proceeds  —  (8,527) 
Total costs related to Fox Creek incident  298  6,085 
Write-down of assets  —  9,869 
Total other expense $ 298 $ 15,954 

21.     OPERATING SEGMENTS 

The Company has operations in both the US and Canada; the two geographic segments are summarized in the table below:

Sales for the year ended December 31,
Canadian 

Operations US Operations Corporate(1) Total
2020 $ 249,491 $ 387 $ — $ 249,878 
2019 $ 332,428 $ 528 $ — $ 332,956 

Total Assets
Canadian 

Operations US Operations Corporate(1) Total
December 31, 2020 $ 102,068 $ 158,803 $ 5,390 $ 266,261 
December 31, 2019 $ 162,428 $ 299,922 $ 34,315 $ 496,665 

Note:
(1) The Corporate Segment does not represent an operating segment and is included for informational purposes only.

22.     RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Key management personnel are comprised of the Company's directors and executive officers. Key management personnel 
compensation is comprised of:

 2020  2019 
Short-term employment benefits  1,724  2,858 
Share-based payment  23  371 
Post-employment benefits  16  58 
Total  1,763  3,287 

There were no related party transactions during the year ended December 31, 2020.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), dated March 18, 2021, reflects the operating and 
financial results of Source Energy Services Ltd. and its subsidiaries, collectively (“Source” or the “Company”), as at 
and for the three months and year ended December 31, 2020 compared with the corresponding period in the prior 
year. The MD&A is provided to assist readers in understanding the Company’s financial performance and position 
during the periods presented and significant trends that may impact the future performance of Source.

This discussion should be read in conjunction with Source’s audited consolidated financial statements for the years 
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, together with the accompanying notes (the “Financial Statements”). The 
Financial Statements and other information relating to Source, including the Annual Information Form (“AIF”), are 
available under the Company’s SEDAR profile at www.sedar.com. The Financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board. Unless otherwise stated, all amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars.

Certain financial measures referred to in this MD&A are not prescribed by IFRS. “EBITDA” and “Adjusted EBITDA” 
are, among other things, used by management as a representation of earnings generated to fund capital investments 
and meet financial obligations, and “Adjusted Gross Margin” is used by management to assist in comparisons with 
peers. “Free Cash Flow” is generally used to assess the ability to fund discretionary capital and non-capital spend 
from cash flows provided by operating activities. Refer to ‘Non-IFRS Measures’ for further information regarding the 
following non-IFRS measures used in this MD&A: “EBITDA”, “Adjusted EBITDA”, “Adjusted Gross Margin” and “Free 
Cash Flow”, as well as a reconciliation to IFRS measures of the Company.

This MD&A contains “forward-looking statements” or “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable 
Canadian securities laws (collectively, “forward-looking statements”) based on Source’s current expectations and 
projections. For information on the material factors and assumptions underlying such forward-looking statements, 
refer to ‘Forward-Looking Statements’ included at the end of this MD&A.

About Source

Source is a company that focuses on the production and distribution of high quality Northern White frac sand, as well 
as the distribution of other bulk completion materials not produced by Source. Source provides its customers with an 
end-to-end solution for frac sand supported by its Wisconsin mines and processing facilities, its Western Canadian 
terminal network and its “last mile” logistics capabilities. Source also provides storage and logistics services for other 
bulk oil and gas well completion materials and has developed Sahara, a proprietary wellsite mobile sand storage and 
handling system.  

Source’s full-service approach allows customers to rely on its logistics platform to increase reliability of supply and to 
ensure the timely delivery of their requirements for frac sand and other bulk completion materials at the wellsite.  

2020 Overview

2020 was a year of unprecedented challenges, as the oil and gas industry reeled from a significant reduction in global 
demand caused by the coronavirus pandemic (“COVID-19”) and the fallout from a price war between the 
Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) and other oil exporting nations. Despite this challenging 
backdrop, Source achieved the following highlights for the year ended December 31, 2020:

• completed a Recapitalization Transaction (as defined below), resulting in a stronger long-term capital 
structure which enhanced liquidity and increased financial flexibility, allowing Source to withstand industry 
volatility while building on its position as the largest frac sand provider in the Western Canadian Sedimentary 
Basin (“WCSB”);

• completed the renegotiation of the majority of Source’s rail car lease contracts which contributed to a 
reduction in 2020 lease payments of approximately $9.0 million, compared to 2019, and a reduction to 
Source’s total outstanding lease obligations; 

• realized sand sales volumes of 1,968,511 metric tonnes (“MT”), a decrease of 12% from 2019, and sand 
revenue of $210.0 million; 

• renewed a sales contract for an additional three-year term and achieved a new direct sale customer contract 
for a one-year term;

• achieved a new service record in December for the amount of sand delivered through Sahara to the blender 
in a single day of 4,436 MT;

• distributed total volumes through Source’s WCSB terminal network of 2,021,335 MT; 
• realized non-sand terminal revenues of $0.7 million;
• realized gross margin of $24.7 million and Adjusted Gross Margin(1) of $56.8 million; 
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• maintained cost control measures resulting in a reduction of 34% for operating and general and 
administrative expense compared to 2019;

• realized Adjusted EBITDA(1) of $37.7 million, including $12.2 million in the fourth quarter; and
• reported net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 of $185.5 million, or $36.81 per share, which 

included an impairment loss of $143.7 million recognized in the year.
Note:
(1) Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Gross Margin (including on a per MT basis) are not defined under IFRS, refer to ‘Non-IFRS Measures’ below.

While 2020 proved to be a challenging year for the oil and gas industry, Source’s activity levels recovered in the latter 
half of the year as the industry resumed completion activities. Source’s reliability of supply and wellsite service 
offering have become a key component in many large Western Canadian completions programs. 

Results Overview 
Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

($000’s, except MT and per unit amounts) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Sand volumes (MT)(1)  474,345  479,017  1,968,511  2,233,034 
Sand revenue  48,936  58,401  210,021  281,866 
Wellsite solutions  9,582  9,235  36,644  46,208 
Terminal services  451  1,006  3,213  4,882 
Sales  58,969  68,642  249,878  332,956 
Cost of sales  42,650  51,669  193,033  253,302 
Cost of sales – depreciation  5,253  6,351  32,188  42,043 
Cost of sales  47,903  58,020  225,221  295,345 
Gross margin  11,066  10,622  24,657  37,611 
Operating expense  3,198  5,423  12,485  20,710 
General & administrative expense(2)  1,203  2,712  9,379  12,247 
Depreciation  2,647  4,020  13,860  16,212 
Income (loss) from operations  4,018  (1,533)  (11,067)  (11,558) 
Other expense (income):
Finance expense  7,747  7,108  29,689  28,060 
Share-based compensation expense (recovery)  77  (201)  (14)  203 
Loss (gain) on asset disposal  —  8  (150)  161 
Gain on derivative liability  —  (144)  —  (1,326) 
Other (income) loss  228  (328)  (1,625)  (927) 
Other expense(3)  112  (5,755)  298  15,954 
Impairment expense  —  —  143,656  61,215 
Gain on debt extinguishment  (27,690)  —  (27,690)  — 
Foreign exchange gain(4)  (471)  (18)  (1,115)  (1,002) 
Total other expense (income)  (19,997)  670  143,049  102,338 
Income (loss) before income taxes  24,015  (2,203)  (154,116)  (113,896) 
Deferred income tax expense (recovery)  —  416  31,350  (23,941) 
Net income (loss)  24,015  (2,619)  (185,466)  (89,955) 
Net earnings (loss) per share ($/share)(5)  4.58  (0.58)  (36.81)  (17.68) 
Diluted net earnings (loss) per share ($/share)(5)  4.58  (0.58)  (36.81)  (17.68) 
Adjusted EBITDA(6)  12,161  9,184  37,721  48,626 
Sand revenue sales/MT  103.17  121.92  106.69  126.23 

 

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Total assets 266,261 496,665
Total non-current financial liabilities 187,537 229,930

Notes:
(1) One MT is approximately equal to 1.102 short tons.
(2) Includes write-off of $1.6 million in 2020 for receivables deemed uncollectible, refer to ‘Operating and General & Administrative Expense’ below.
(3) Reflects costs associated with the Fox Creek Incident, see below.
(4) The average Canadian to US dollar exchange rate for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2020 was $0.7675 and $0.7454, 

respectively (2019 - $0.7576 and $0.7536, respectively).
(5) Prior year amounts have been restated to reflect the 12:1 share consolidation pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction.
(6) Adjusted EBITDA is not defined under IFRS, refer to ‘Non-IFRS Measures’ below. Includes receipt of proceeds from the CEWS program (as 

defined below) of $2.8 million in 2020.
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Results for the year ended December 31, 2020 were significantly impacted by COVID-19 and certain actions taken by 
OPEC members, resulting in the collapse of commodity prices and material declines in sand sales volumes in the 
second quarter of the year. Drilling and completion activities dropped to the lowest level seen by the industry in 
decades. Activity levels in the WCSB partially recovered through the third and fourth quarters, a result of improved 
commodity prices, and Source realized only a 12% decline in year-over-year sand sales volumes. Sand revenue was 
$210.0 million for the year, a decrease of $71.8 million from 2019, due to the decline in sand sales volumes and the 
industry slowdown which impacted the average realized sand price. In the fourth quarter of 2020, customers took 
advantage of stabilized commodity pricing by deploying capital in advance of the end of the year resulting in fourth 
quarter sand volumes that were relatively consistent with 2019. However, sand revenue was $48.9 million for the 
quarter, a decrease of $9.5 million, impacted by lower realized average sand prices as pricing pressure continued to 
impact results relative to the same period last year.  

Wellsite solutions revenue was $9.6 million for the fourth quarter, an increase of 4%, resulting from increased sand 
volumes trucked to wellsites compared to the fourth quarter of 2019. For the year, wellsite solutions revenue was 
lower by 21% due to the impact of COVID-19, as discussed above. 

Cost of sales, excluding depreciation, was favorably impacted by cost savings initiatives and production efficiencies 
implemented last year and further enhanced in 2020. 

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
($000’s, except MT and per unit amounts)  2020  2019  2020  2019 
Gross margin  11,066  10,622  24,657  37,611 
Cost of sales – depreciation  5,253  6,351  32,188  42,043 
Adjusted Gross Margin(1)  16,319  16,973  56,845  79,654 
Gross margin/MT  23.33  22.17  12.53  16.84 
Adjusted Gross Margin/MT(1)  34.40  35.43  28.88  35.67 
Percentage of mine gate sand volumes  — %  — %  1 %  — %
Percentage of sand volumes sold in the WCSB  100 %  100 %  99 %  100 %

Note:
(1) Adjusted Gross Margin (including on a per MT basis) is not defined under IFRS, refer to ‘Non-IFRS Measures’ below. 

Gross margin and Adjusted Gross Margin decreased by $13.0 million and $22.8 million, respectively, for the year 
ended December 31, 2020 compared to 2019, primarily due to the significant decrease in activity levels caused by 
the COVID-19 pandemic and lower average realized sand prices. The successful implementation of cost reduction 
initiatives, as discussed above, partially offset the reduced volumes and continued pricing pressure realized. For the 
year and the quarter ended December 31, 2020, gross margin was favorably impacted by lower cost of sales - 
depreciation realized, attributed to a lower equipment asset base resulting from impairments recognized in 2019 and 
early in 2020 and the impact of renegotiating lease terms with rail car providers.  

Compared to 2019, operating and general and administrative expenses were lower by $11.1 million, or 34%, for the 
year and $3.7 million, or 46%, for the fourth quarter. Workforce optimization efforts implemented in 2019 as well as 
cost control measures undertaken in 2020, as discussed below, drove further reductions in costs including lower 
variable incentive compensation. Operating and general and administrative expenses were also favorably impacted 
by the receipt of proceeds from the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”) program of $1.3 million for the year 
and $0.3 million in the fourth quarter.  

For the year ended December 31, 2020, Adjusted EBITDA was $37.7 million, $10.9 million lower than the year ended 
2019, as the impact of lower industry activity was partially offset by a continued focus on cost controls across the 
organization. 

COVID-19 

In March 2020, COVID-19 was declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organization. Measures enacted to 
prevent the spread of the virus resulted in global business disruption with significant economic repercussions. With 
the onset of COVID-19, Source took immediate steps to ensure the safety of its employees, contractors and 
customers and implemented a COVID-19 program. Office employees were moved to a work-from-home model and 
special protocols were put in place to minimize COVID-19 exposure for employees and contractors in the field and at 
the production plants. 

As a result of the weakening economic climate and the decline in the demand for crude oil, Source implemented 
operational cost reductions and other measures which included the following:

• reduced staff levels and hours of operations;
• reduced Board (as defined below), executive and salaried employee compensation and benefits;
• eliminated all discretionary expenditures;
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• reduced capital expenditures;
• received proceeds from the US Small Business Administration’s Paycheck Protection Program (the “US PPP 

Loan”); 
• received proceeds from the CEWS program; and
• completed the Recapitalization Transaction (as outlined below).

The Company also carried out an assessment of the recoverable value of its operations as a result of the weakened 
economic climate. A discounted cash flow analysis was completed using an updated weighted average cost of capital 
and revised forecasts, resulting in an impairment loss of $143.7 million recognized in the first quarter of 2020.

As activity levels began to recover in the latter half of the year, Source has continued to examine its operational costs 
while accommodating increased demand to ensure it remains focused on maximizing operational efficiencies. In 
addition to the initiatives noted above, Source also worked closely with certain rail car lease vendors to negotiate 
more favorable long-term contracts, resulting in the execution of amended rail car lease contracts which significantly 
reduced ongoing monthly lease payments and lowered Source’s long-term obligations for these leases.

Recapitalization Transaction

The persistent challenges faced by the Western Canadian oil and gas industry have been substantially exacerbated 
by the global economic slowdown resulting from COVID-19. Source’s operating environment has been materially 
impacted by these events and the collapse of commodity prices.  

In light of these circumstances, the Company, under the supervision of a committee (the “Independent Committee”) 
comprised of independent members of its board of directors (the “Board”), undertook a comprehensive process to 
evaluate all reasonably available alternatives to access additional liquidity and improve the Company’s capital 
structure. On December 30, 2020 Source announced the completion of its recapitalization transaction (the 
“Recapitalization Transaction”), designed to provide the Company with a stronger long-term capital structure and 
enhanced liquidity and financial flexibility. The transaction was undertaken through a plan of arrangement under the 
Canada Business Corporations Act and achieved the following:

• addressed the maturity and obligations (including all accrued and unpaid interest) under the Old Notes (as 
defined below) through an exchange of the Old Notes for a combination of new senior secured first lien 
notes due March 15, 2025 (the “Notes”), resulting in a $32.7 million decrease of the principal amount and the 
issuance of new common shares of Source, constituting approximately 62.5% of the common shares 
outstanding on a fully diluted basis;

• provided enhanced liquidity and financial flexibility as a result of the terms of the Notes, which enable the 
Company to pay interest in kind, rather than in cash, on the Notes for all quarterly interest payments up to 
and including February 15, 2022;

• enabled Source to access new funding under a $20.0 million term loan facility from the Company’s existing 
lending syndicate; 

• enabled Source to obtain the support of its lending syndicate through an amendment to Source’s revolving 
Credit Facility (as defined below) providing the Company with an extended maturity date, ongoing financial 
flexibility and access to liquidity under the amended Credit Facility; and

• resulted in existing shareholders retaining approximately 37.5% of the outstanding common shares on a fully 
diluted basis following completion of the Recapitalization Transaction, thereby allowing shareholders to 
participate in the anticipated future growth of Source’s business as market conditions improve in the WCSB.

Immediately prior to the closing of the Recapitalization Transaction, the outstanding common shares of Source were 
consolidated on a twelve-for-one basis. The Recapitalization Transaction resulted in a gain on the extinguishment of 
debt, comprised of the difference between the carrying value of the Old Notes and the Notes, offset in part by the fair 
value of the equity issuance and net of transaction costs recognized. Refer to Note 13 of the audited consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 for additional detail related to the Recapitalization 
Transaction.  

Business Outlook

Source’s activity levels recovered in the latter half of 2020 and have continued to gain momentum into the first quarter 
of 2021, supported by the strength of commodity prices. Commodity prices stabilized at the end of 2020 and have 
demonstrated continued strength early in 2021, allowing exploration and production (“E&P”) companies to generate 
stronger cash flows. Source’s customers continue to be focused on strengthening their balance sheets; however, 
Source is starting to see more customers developing drilling and completion programs for the second half of 2021 
and into 2022. 
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Source continues to remain optimistic about the longer-term industry prospects, including increased demand for 
WCSB natural gas driven by LNG, coal to natural gas power generation conversions and increased gas pipeline 
capacity. In addition, expansion of oil pipeline egress capacity and the potential for additional hydrocarbon shipments 
by rail continue to support the Company’s expectation that activity levels should steadily increase in the coming 
years. 

Source continues to see E&P companies drive additional efficiencies in their completion programs by completing 
fracs over much shorter periods of time, requiring larger volumes of frac sand. Source’s terminal network and logistics 
capabilities have become a key component in the success of these accelerated frac programs in the Montney and the 
Duverney, and Source’s success in capturing a large portion of this market is further enhanced by the delivery 
capability of the Sahara units. Source is ideally positioned to serve the increase in demand for frac sand and logistics 
services as activity levels rebound. 

Source continues to focus on improving logistics for other items needed at the wellsite, in response to customer 
requests to expand its service offerings, and continues to develop opportunities to further utilize its existing Western 
Canadian terminals to provide additional diversification of its business. Over the longer-term, Source anticipates that 
these new terminal services will be a meaningful part of its business.  

Source cannot predict the extent of the impact COVID-19 or its variants may have on energy demand, or how OPEC 
will react to those changes in demand and how those events could impact the Company’s operations. Source cannot 
reasonably estimate the period of time that adverse business conditions will persist, the impact they will have on the 
Company’s business, liquidity, consolidated results of operations and consolidated financial condition, or the pace of 
any subsequent recovery. 

Source’s Operations

Sand revenue is predominately comprised of sand sales into the WCSB at a Source terminal or to a customer at the 
wellsite utilizing Source’s integrated logistics business model. This is referred to as “In Basin” sales and it represents 
Source’s core business.

Sand revenue may also include mine gate sand sales, which include the sale of products that are in lower demand in 
the WCSB and sold at the mine sites in the US. Mine gate sand sales are undertaken to maximize production 
efficiencies and sand volumes but are not considered Source’s core business and are typically at a lower sales price 
than In Basin sales and provide a comparatively lower margin per MT sold. 

Wellsite solutions revenue is comprised of revenue from “last mile” logistics (i.e., from a Source terminal to the 
wellsite), and wellsite service offerings including Sahara units. Source believes its “last mile” services benefit 
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customers by managing overall trucking activity, increasing reliability of supply at the wellsite and increasing 
operational efficiencies. Source also provides terminal services for certain well-completion products that aren’t 
produced by Source. These products primarily consist of hydrochloric acid, chemicals and resin-coated proppants. 
The magnitude of terminal services revenues realized by Source generally follows completion activity trends in the 
WCSB.

Review of Operations

Sales

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
($000’s, except MT and per unit amounts) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Sand volumes (MT)  474,345  479,017  1,968,511  2,233,034 

Sand revenue  48,936  58,401  210,021  281,866 

Wellsite solutions  9,582  9,235  36,644  46,208 

Terminal services  451  1,006  3,213  4,882 

Sales  58,969  68,642  249,878  332,956 

Sand Revenue

Source’s sand revenue for the three months ended December 31, 2020 was $48.9 million, a decrease of $9.5 million, 
or 16%, from the same period in 2019. For the year ended December 31, 2020, sand revenue was $210.0 million, a 
decrease of $71.8 million, or 25%, compared to the same period last year. 

As discussed above, revenue for the fourth quarter was favorably impacted by increased activity levels in the WCSB 
as customers took advantage of stabilized commodity pricing by deploying capital in advance of the end of the year. 
When compared to the fourth quarter of 2019 sand volumes were consistent; however, sand revenue was impacted 
by lower realized average sand prices as pricing pressure continued to impact results relative to the same period last 
year. On a year-to-date basis, sand sales volumes and overall revenue were materially impacted by COVID-19, 
particularly in the second quarter of 2020, where sand sales volumes for the quarter were below volumes typically 
realized in one month. 

Wellsite Solutions and Terminal Services

Wellsite solutions revenue was $9.6 million for the three months ended December 31, 2020, an increase of $0.3 
million, or 4%, compared with the same period in 2019. For the year ended December 31, 2020, wellsite solutions 
revenue decreased by $9.6 million, or 21%, compared with the same period last year.

Wellsite solutions revenue in the fourth quarter was favorably impacted by an improvement in sand volumes that were 
trucked to the wellsite. Sahara revenue was lower in the quarter, mainly due to the mix of customers who utilize 
Sahara compared to a year ago. On a year-to-date basis, revenue from wellsite solutions was materially impacted by 
COVID-19, resulting in significantly lower volumes and lower utilization days, as discussed above, compared to the 
year ended December 31, 2019.

Terminal services revenue was $0.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2020, a decrease of $0.6 
million, or 55%, compared with the same period in 2019. For the year ended December 31, 2020, terminal services 
revenue decreased by $1.7 million, or 34%, compared with the same period last year. 

Terminal services revenue was impacted by lower proppant storage revenue, as contractual rates stepped down in 
the fourth quarter of 2019, as well as a decrease in hydrochloric acid transloading revenue, relative to the same 
period last year and on a year-to-date basis. These decreases were partially offset by revenue generated from 
diversification initiatives which generated $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Cost of Sales

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
($000’s) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Direct materials  33,928  42,317  158,791  207,767 
People costs  1,742  2,699  7,085  11,282 

Equipment costs  468  655  1,950  2,308 
Transportation costs  6,395  5,699  24,415  31,264 
Facility costs  117  299  792  681 
Cost of sales  42,650  51,669  193,033  253,302 
Cost of sales - depreciation  5,253  6,351  32,188  42,043 

Cost of sales, excluding depreciation, decreased by $9.0 million for the three months ended December 31, 2020, 
compared to the three months ended December 31, 2019. Warmer weather realized during the fourth quarter of 2020 
allowed wash plants to remain operational, resulting in increased efficiencies and lower energy costs due to reduced 
natural gas usage at the dry plants and lower repairs and maintenance, relative to the same quarter last year. The 
increased production, combined with operational cost reductions implemented last year and further expanded in 2020 
including reduced staffing levels at the mines, resulted in lower overall costs for the year which were also realized in 
the fourth quarter. Proceeds of $0.4 million from the CEWS program further contributed to the quarter-over-quarter 
decrease in cost of sales, excluding depreciation. 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, cost of sales, excluding depreciation, was $193.0 million, a decrease of 
$60.3 million, or 24%, compared to the same period last year. As discussed above, the second quarter was materially 
impacted by the effects of COVID-19. While significant improvement in activity levels were realized through the third 
and fourth quarters of 2020, Source was able to maintain operational cost reductions implemented last year and 
further expanded in 2020, as noted above, including the optimization of plant production resulting in savings 
associated with people costs. These efficiencies, combined with the additional production achieved in the fourth 
quarter, resulted in lower average cost of sales, excluding depreciation, realized for 2020 compared to 2019. Lower 
transportation costs incurred through the year, as well as proceeds received from the CEWS program of $1.5 million, 
also contributed to the reduction.

Source applied for and received proceeds of US$2.1 million from the US PPP Loan in the second quarter of 2020. 
These funds were used to help finance operating wages in the US. Source expects to have substantially all of this 
loan forgiven in 2021, at which time the benefits realized will further reduce cost of sales. 

Significant components of cost of sales are mainly US dollar denominated including sand processing and rail freight 
and are therefore subject to exchange rate fluctuations. For the three months ended December 31, 2020, a 
strengthening of the Canadian dollar on US dollar denominated components of cost of sales of 1.3% further 
contributed to cost of sales reductions. For the year ended December 31, 2020, a weakening of the Canadian dollar 
of 1.1% partially offset the above-noted cost of sales reductions. 

Gross Margin

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
($000’s, except MT and per unit amounts)  2020  2019  2020  2019 
Gross margin  11,066  10,622  24,657  37,611 
Cost of sales — depreciation  5,253  6,351  32,188  42,043 
Adjusted Gross Margin(1)  16,319  16,973  56,845  79,654 
Gross margin %  18.8 %  15.5 %  9.9 %  11.3 %
Gross margin/MT  23.33  22.17  12.53  16.84 
Adjusted Gross Margin %(1)  27.7 %  24.7 %  22.7 %  23.9 %
Adjusted Gross Margin/MT(1)  34.40  35.43  28.88  35.67 

Note:
(1)     Adjusted Gross Margin is not defined under IFRS, refer to ‘Non-IFRS Measures’ below.

Adjusted Gross Margin decreased by $0.7 million for the fourth quarter of 2019 compared to the same period last 
year, as lower average realized sand prices for the quarter were partially mitigated by the operational efficiencies 
achieved. Gross margin increased by $0.4 million on a quarter-over-quarter basis, primarily due to lower cost of sales 
- depreciation realized, attributed to a lower equipment asset base resulting from impairment recognized early in 2020 
and the benefits of the rail car lease negotiations. 

Adjusted Gross Margin and gross margin decreased by $22.8 million and $13.0 million, respectively, for the year 
ended December 31, 2020, compared to the same period in 2019. The decrease was mainly attributed to the material 
impact of COVID-19 on Source’s operations in the second quarter of 2020, partly offset by the cost reduction 
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initiatives implemented in 2019, and further enhanced this year, as a result of the depressed economic and operating 
climate. 

Operating and General & Administrative Expense

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
2020 2019 2020 2019

($000’s) OPEX G&A OPEX G&A OPEX G&A OPEX G&A
People  1,088  461  2,100  1,883  4,920  4,385  8,003  7,946 
Equipment  279  —  203  1  1,056  —  1,375  16 
Facility  341  1  879  14  1,319  51  3,236  169 
Selling and administrative  1,490  741  2,241  814  5,190  4,943  8,096  4,116 
Operating and General & 
Administrative Expense  3,198  1,203  5,423  2,712  12,485  9,379  20,710  12,247 

For the fourth quarter of 2020, total operating and general and administrative expense was $4.4 million, a reduction of 
$3.7 million or 46% from the fourth quarter of 2019. Operating expense decreased by $2.2 million from the same 
period last year, primarily attributable to workforce optimization including lower variable incentive compensation and 
cost savings initiatives implemented in mid-2019, resulting in lower people and selling costs. Earlier in 2020, further 
cost reduction initiatives were implemented. Lower royalty expenses incurred and proceeds of $0.1 million received 
from the CEWS program also contributed to the reduction in operating expense for the fourth quarter. 

General and administrative expense for the three months ended December 31, 2020 was $1.2 million, a decrease of 
$1.5 million compared to the same period in 2019. The decrease was driven in part by benefits achieved from cost 
savings initiatives and workforce optimization changes implemented last year, as noted above, as well as additional 
cost reduction measures, including lower variable incentive compensation, launched in response to the volatile 
operating environment. Proceeds of $0.1 million were received from the CEWS program, further contributing to the 
quarter-over-quarter savings achieved. 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, total operating and general and administrative expense was $21.9 million, a 
reduction of $11.1 million or 34% from the year ended December 31, 2019. Operating expense decreased by $8.2 
million and general and administrative expense decreased by $2.9 million, respectively, compared to the same 
periods in 2019. The changes in operating and general and administrative expense were due to previously 
implemented cost reduction initiatives, as well as additional measures taken to mitigate the impact of the reduction in 
activity levels, as noted above. Lower expense for insurance, variable compensation and royalty costs incurred, as 
well as $1.3 million received from the CEWS program, also contributed to the reduction. These savings were partially 
offset by the write-off of $1.6 million of uncollectible receivables in the second quarter of 2020, attributed to a pressure 
pumping customer who filed for creditor protection earlier this year.

Depreciation

Depreciation expense decreased in the fourth quarter and for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the 
same periods in 2019, by $1.4 million and $2.4 million, respectively. Lower depreciation expense was due to 
depreciation being calculated on a lower asset base, the result of the impairments recognized in the third quarter of 
2019 and the first quarter of 2020. 

Finance Expense

Finance expense increased by $0.6 million and $1.6 million for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 
2020, respectively, compared to the same periods last year. The increase in finance expense for both periods was 
primarily due to higher interest resulting from higher draws on the Credit Facility compared to last year, higher 
accretion expense and an increase in other miscellaneous finance fees. These increases were partially offset by 
lower interest expense incurred for lease liabilities due to rail and equipment fleet efficiencies achieved, as well as the 
renegotiation of certain rail car and equipment lease contracts executed in the third quarter of 2020. 

Share-based Compensation

For the three months ended December 31, 2020, share-based compensation expense was $0.1 million, compared to 
a recovery of $0.2 million in 2019. For the year ended December 31, 2020 share-based compensation was $nil, 
compared to an expense of $0.2 million in 2019. The changes are due to the movement in Source’s share price 
relative to last year. Share-based compensation expense is associated with the deferred share units (“DSUs”), 
restricted share units (“RSUs”), performance share units (“PSUs”) and accrued expense related to the stock options 
(“Options”). 
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During the first quarter of 2020 the remaining 516,169 Options outstanding expired, leaving no Options outstanding 
as at December 31, 2020.

Loss (Gain) on Derivative Liability

Source recorded no change for the value of the derivative liability for the three and twelve months ended December 
31, 2020, compared to a $0.1 million gain and $1.3 million gain, respectively, for the three and twelve months ended 
December 31, 2019. The derivative loss or gain fluctuates with changes in the US dollar to Canadian dollar exchange 
rates combined with other inputs into the valuation technique and their corresponding impact on foreign exchange 
rate collars. The collars were wound up in January 2020.

Other (Income) Expense

For the three months ended December 31, 2020, an adjustment was made for the amount to be recovered for certain 
sales and use taxes incurred at the US operating facility, resulting in an expense of $0.2 million. For the year ended 
December 31, 2020, other income was $1.6 million, an increase of $0.7 million compared to 2019 due to the recovery 
of sales and use taxes, as noted above. 

For the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2020, other expense increased by $5.9 million and decreased 
by $15.7 million, respectively, compared to the same periods last year. In the fourth quarter of 2019, Source received 
insurance proceeds of $5.9 million related to the write-off of damaged assets and other expenses related to the 
incident at Fox Creek (the “Fox Creek Incident”). During the year ended December 31, 2019, Source wrote off $6.1 
million of costs, net of $8.5 million of insurance proceeds, related to the Fox Creek Incident. Also during 2019, Source 
recorded an expense of $9.7 million related to the write-down of its Berthold, North Dakota terminal facility. For 
additional information related to the asset write-down and the Fox Creek Incident, refer to the audited consolidated 
annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

Impairment Expense

Impairment expense for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2020 was $nil and $143.7 million, 
respectively, compared to $nil and $61.2 million, respectively, for the same periods last year. Refer to ‘COVID-19’ 
above, and Note 7 of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2020 for additional detail related to this impairment.

Income Tax

Source recorded a tax expense of $nil for the three months ended December 31, 2020, compared to $0.4 million for 
the same period in 2019. For the year ended December 31, 2020, Source recorded an income tax expense of $31.4 
million, compared to a recovery of $23.9 million for the same period last year. The increase in income tax expense 
was due to the reversal of the cumulative deferred tax asset recognized in the first quarter of 2020. 
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Summary of Quarterly Results 

($000’s, except MT and per unit amounts)
2019 2020

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Sand volumes (MT)  698,347  504,907  550,762  479,017  762,322  122,375  609,469  474,345 

Sand revenue  91,149  64,677  67,639  58,401  83,019  12,826  65,240  48,936 

Wellsite solutions  15,480  10,494  10,999  9,235  12,113  2,313  12,636  9,582 

Terminal services  1,504  1,172  1,200  1,006  1,331  762  669  451 

Sales  108,133  76,343  79,838  68,642  96,463  15,901  78,545  58,969 

Cost of sales  83,794  56,681  61,158  51,669  76,656  12,485  61,242  42,650 

Cost of sales depreciation  13,984  10,772  10,936  6,351  13,430  3,241  10,264  5,253 

Cost of sales  97,778  67,453  72,094  58,020  90,086  15,726  71,506  47,903 

Gross margin  10,355  8,890  7,744  10,622  6,377  175  7,039  11,066 

Operating expenses  5,182  5,352  4,753  5,423  4,297  2,237  2,753  3,198 

General & administrative expenses  4,764  2,373  2,398  2,712  2,557  3,399  2,220  1,203 

Depreciation  4,306  4,011  3,875  4,020  4,257  3,798  3,158  2,647 

Income (loss) from operations  (3,897)  (2,846)  (3,282)  (1,533)  (4,734)  (9,259)  (1,092)  4,018 

Other expense (income):
Finance expense  6,870  6,852  7,230  7,108  7,246  7,045  7,651  7,747 

Share-based compensation expense (recovery)  924  (407)  (113)  (201)  (96)  27  (22)  77 

Loss (gain) on asset disposal  —  73  80  8  5  —  (155)  — 

Loss (gain) on derivative liability  (767)  (466)  51  (144)  —  —  —  — 

Other income (loss)  (323)  (120)  (156)  (328)  (1,344)  (382)  (127)  228 

Other expense  —  13,929  7,780  (5,755)  108  12  66  112 

Impairment expense  —  —  61,215  —  143,656  —  —  — 

Gain on debt extinguishment  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (27,690) 

Foreign exchange loss (gain)  (97)  (525)  (362)  (18)  (312)  230  (562)  (471) 

Total other expense  6,607  19,336  75,725  670  149,263  6,932  6,851  (19,997) 

Income (loss) before income taxes  (10,504)  (22,182)  (79,007)  (2,203)  (153,997)  (16,191)  (7,943)  24,015 

Income taxes expense (recovery)  (3,182)  (3,155)  (18,020)  416  31,350  —  —  — 

Net income (loss)  (7,322)  (19,027)  (60,987)  (2,619)  (185,347)  (16,191)  (7,943)  24,015 

Net income (loss) per share ($/share)(1)  (1.39)  (3.66)  (12.12)  (0.58)  (36.91)  (3.16)  (1.53)  4.58 

Diluted net income (loss) per share ($/share)(1)  (1.39)  (3.66)  (12.12)  (0.58)  (36.91)  (3.16)  (1.53)  4.58 

Net income (loss)  (7,322)  (19,027)  (60,987)  (2,619)  (185,347)  (16,191)  (7,943)  24,015 

Interest  5,896  5,920  6,255  6,097  6,175  5,890  6,373  6,615 

Income taxes  (3,182)  (3,155)  (18,020)  416  31,350  —  —  — 

Depreciation  4,306  4,011  3,875  4,020  4,257  3,798  3,158  2,647 

Cost of sales depreciation  13,984  10,772  10,936  6,351  13,430  3,241  10,264  5,253 

Impairment expense  —  —  61,215  —  143,656  —  —  — 

EBITDA(1)  13,682  (1,479)  3,274  14,265  13,521  (3,262)  11,852  38,530 

Add:

Loss (gain) on asset disposal  —  73  80  8  5  —  (155)  — 

Finance expense  974  932  975  1,011  1,071  1,155  1,278  1,132 

Loss (gain) on derivative liability  (767)  (466)  51  (144)  —  —  —  — 

Share-based compensation expense (recovery)  924  (407)  (113)  (201)  (96)  27  (22)  77 

Other expense  —  13,929  7,780  (5,755)  108  12  66  112 

Gain on debt extinguishment  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (27,690) 

Adjusted EBITDA(1)  14,813  12,582  12,047  9,184  14,609  (2,068)  13,019  12,161 

Sand revenue sales/MT  130.52  128.10  122.81  121.92  108.90  104.81  107.04  103.17 

Gross margin  10,355  8,890  7,744  10,622  6,377  175  7,039  11,066 

Cost of sales depreciation  13,984  10,772  10,936  6,351  13,430  3,241  10,264  5,253 

Adjusted Gross Margin(2)  24,339  19,662  18,680  16,973  19,807  3,416  17,303  16,319 

Gross margin/MT  14.83  17.61  14.06  22.17  8.37  1.43  11.55  23.33 

Adjusted Gross Margin/MT(2)  34.85  38.94  33.92  35.43  25.98  27.91  28.39  34.40 
Notes: 
(1) Prior year amounts have been restated to reflect the 12:1 share consolidation pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction.
(2) EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Gross Margin are not defined under IFRS, refer to ‘Non-IFRS Measures’ below.
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Source’s business is seasonal in nature with the majority of activity normally being in the first and third quarters of the 
year. Lower activity levels are usually realized in the fourth quarter, as E&P companies evaluate remaining capital 
spend for the year, and in the second quarter due to spring break-up. Spring break-up occurs for a period of 
approximately eight weeks between March and June as the frost comes out of the roads in Western Canada and 
hauling weight restrictions are put in place. The severity of the winter snowfalls and the amount of moisture received 
during this period impact the length of spring break-up. As a result, Source’s operating results may vary on a quarterly 
basis. In addition, some exploration and production areas in Northern Canada are accessible only in the winter 
months when the ground is frozen. There are other factors that will impact the Company’s activities quarter-to-quarter 
including commodity prices and completion activity levels of E&P companies. 

As a general industry practice, frac sand washing facilities in Wisconsin are not operated during the winter months. 
However, Source’s sand washing facility at its Sumner facility is fully enclosed and heated, making it capable of 
operating year-round. Winter operations at the Sumner facility are an important aspect of Source’s business, as the 
WCSB is seasonally busiest in the winter months. Regardless of its ability to wash sand in the winter, Source mines 
and washes more sand than current delivery requirements during the warmer months when Source’s processing 
facilities are more efficient. The excess sand is placed in stockpiles that feed drying operations throughout the year. 
Source’s Blair facility and Preston facility washing plants are not enclosed and therefore are generally not operated 
during the winter months unless the temperature is warm enough, but the dry plants are operated year-round.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Free Cash Flow

($000’s) 2020 2019
Cash flows provided by operating activities  39,371  35,781 
Financing expense paid  (8,334)  (25,198) 
Maintenance and sustaining capital spend  (2,155)  (10,260) 
Repayment of lease obligations  (15,526)  (23,118) 
Satisfaction of performance obligations, net of proceeds on contract liabilities  2,081  2,453 
Free Cash Flow (1)  15,437  (20,342) 

Note:
(1) Free Cash Flow is not defined under IFRS, refer to ‘Non-IFRS Measures’ below. The reconciliation to the comparable IFRS measure can be 

found in the table above. 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, Source generated Free Cash Flow of $15.4 million compared with negative 
$20.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The increase was primarily due to the deferral of the payment of 
interest for the Old Notes, which was added to the principal amount of the Notes pursuant to the Recapitalization 
Transaction.   

Source successfully renegotiated certain long-term lease obligations for rail cars and heavy equipment which also 
favorably impacted finance expense paid and lowered total lease obligation repayments for the year. Free Cash Flow 
also benefited from lower expenditures for maintenance and sustaining capital compared to the year ended 
December 31, 2019. 

Source funded its capital spend in 2020 and 2019 through amounts available under the existing Credit Facility and 
cash flows from operations. The Free Cash Flow generated on a year-to-date basis in 2020 was used to lower 
amounts outstanding on the asset backed loan facility (“ABL”), which fluctuates with the movement in working capital 
balances, as well as funding requirements of the operations of the business. As Source moves forward, it will 
continue to be focused on its expenditures to ensure that it can generate free cash flows which can be used to 
continue to deleverage the business.

Source operates in a working capital and capital expenditure intensive industry where capital is required to fund 
working capital growth and maintenance capital expenditures for the Company. In response to industry challenges 
and an operating environment further impacted by COVID-19, Source completed a Recapitalization Transaction on 
December 30, 2020, as discussed above, which resulted in a stronger long-term capital structure and enhanced 
liquidity and financial flexibility. The Company has a banking operating facility comprised of the ABL, a standby letter 
of credit facility and, as a result of the Recapitalization Transaction, a senior secured term loan (collectively, the 
“Credit Facility”). Source intends to fund future working capital and capital expenditures using cash flows from 
operating activities, amounts available under the existing Credit Facility and additional debt or equity issuances as 
may be required. The availability of any additional future funding beyond that provided by the Recapitalization 
Transaction will depend on, among other things, operating performance and the current state of the equity and debt 
capital markets. 
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Capital Management

Capital expenditures Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
($000’s) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Terminal expansion  —  (5,788)  43  4,272 
Wellsite solutions  943  293  1,613  5,115 
Production expansion  58  784  582  6,561 
Overburden removal  137  779  1,341  3,672 
Other  —  23  104  49 
Capital expenditures  1,138  (3,909)  3,683  19,669 

Source’s capital expenditures fall into three main categories: capital expenditures at existing terminals and mine 
facilities to make improvements and maintain operations, growth capital expenditures for new capacity to grow 
production or distribution and overburden removal. Capital expenditures for the fourth quarter of 2020 were $1.1 
million, an increase of $5.0 million from the same period last year. In the fourth quarter of 2019, Source received 
insurance proceeds of $5.9 million related to amounts previously expended for the Fox Creek terminal expansion 
project. For the year ended December 31, 2020, capital expenditures were $16.0 million lower than the prior year due 
to the completion of the Fox Creek terminal expansion and two Sahara units in 2019. 

Source’s capital management policy is to maintain a strong capital base that optimizes its ability to grow, maintain 
investor and creditor confidence and to provide a platform to create value for its stakeholders. Source considers its 
capital structure to include Source’s equity, the Notes and Credit Facility and manages its capital structure through 
various means including monthly management meetings and quarterly Board meetings to review financial 
information. Source evaluates and monitors its capital based on its current working capital, available bank line, 
projected cash flows provided by operating activities and anticipated capital expenditures. Source’s management 
prepares annual capital expenditure and operating budgets which are approved by the Board and are regularly 
reviewed and updated as necessary.

As noted above, Source completed the Recapitalization Transaction which resulted in a stronger long-term capital 
structure. Source’s ability to fund future operating expenses and capital expenditures, to make scheduled payments 
of interest on the Notes and the Credit Facility and to satisfy any of Source’s other present or future debt obligations 
will depend on Source’s future operating performance which will be affected by general economic, financial and other 
factors.

The Company’s share capital is not subject to external restrictions; however, the amount of the ABL facility available 
for use is determined by levels of accounts receivable and inventory. Pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction and 
the amended and restated credit agreement, the Company is subject to externally imposed capital requirements as 
follows: 

• a minimum level of excess availability of $5,000;
• commencing December 31, 2020, a minimum level of the average of the prior three months trailing twelve 

months of earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization ending at predetermined dates 
through December 31, 2022 and calculated at each fiscal calendar month, equal to $8,500 for 2020 and a 
range of $8,500 to $12,000 for 2021;

• maximum capital expenditures totaling $6,000 plus permitted capital expenditures, for each of the fiscal 
calendar years ended 2020, 2021 and 2022 and increased to $8,000 for 2023; and

• commencing June 30, 2022, a springing fixed charge ratio of 1.10:1 which shall increase to 1.25:1 on 
September 30, 2022 and all time thereafter. The fixed charge coverage ratio is defined as the ratio of (i) 
earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization for the twelve calendar months ending at each 
fiscal calendar month end less unfinanced capital expenditures, cash taxes and distributions to shareholders 
and (ii) the interest expense paid in cash plus accrued and unpaid interest related to the senior secured 
notes due 2025 for the twelve calendar months ending at such fiscal calendar month. 

As of December 31, 2020, Source was in compliance with all of its covenants. Source’s capital management policy 
has not changed during the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Long-term Debt

($000’s) December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
$142.2M senior secured notes, net of derivative asset  124,022  — 
$157.7M senior secured notes  —  150,028 
ABL facility  3,736  29,046 
Senior secured term loan   20,000  — 

Senior Secured Notes

As a result of the Recapitalization Transaction, Source issued $142.2 million in aggregate principal amount of new 
senior secured notes (as defined above), which bear interest at 10.5% and mature on March 15, 2025. The Company 
has the option to defer payment of interest owed in cash and pay interest in kind, at a rate of 12.5%, for all quarterly 
interest payments due on or before February 15, 2022, through the issuance of additional notes. The Notes are 
secured by a fixed and floating charge over all assets of the business, except for an amount up to a maximum of $20 
million, plus accrued interest and fees, for amounts committed under the senior secured term loan, as outlined below. 
The Notes also have a second charge on accounts receivable and inventory. The Notes contain prepayment options, 
whereby the Company may redeem all or a part of the Notes at any time after December 31, 2020 at the applicable 
percentage (2021 - 102%, 2022 - 101%, 2023 and thereafter - 100%), plus accrued and unpaid interest. The 
prepayment options have been classified as a derivative asset which are measured at fair value through profit and 
loss. 

Source’s existing $157.7 million senior secured notes, maturing December 2021 (the “Old Notes”), were extinguished 
and exchanged for the Notes and 8,465,667 new common shares of Source. Unpaid and accrued interest owing on 
the Old Notes was added to the principal amount of the Notes. The exchange resulted in a gain on extinguishment of 
debt for the year ended December 31, 2020 for the difference between the carrying value of the Old Notes and the 
fair value of the Notes.

Credit Facility

As part of the Recapitalization Transaction, the Company’s ABL facility was amended to extend the term to mature on 
September 30, 2023. The facilities bear interest based on the bank’s prime lending rate and CDOR or LIBOR rates, 
plus an applicable margin. The ABL is secured by a floating first lien charge on the accounts receivable and inventory 
of the Company under a general business security agreement and a second lien charge on all other assets of the 
business. The amount available under the general operating facility is subject to a borrowing base formula applied to 
accounts receivable and inventories. As of December 31, 2020, $2.2 million (net of unamortized transaction costs) 
was drawn under this facility (December 31, 2019 - $28.7 million). The Credit Facility was also being used to support 
$14.6 million of letters of credit (December 31, 2019 - $17.5 million) leaving $17.3 million of available liquidity 
(December 31, 2019 - $18.4 million). Source is subject to externally imposed capital requirements for the Credit 
Facility, requiring the Company to maintain the financial covenants as outlined above. 

Also pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction, Source obtained access to an additional credit facility in the form of 
a senior secured term loan (the “Term Loan”) with an initial principal amount of up to $20,000. The Term Loan bears 
interest at Canadian prime plus 6% and matures on September 30, 2023, provided that the Term Loan shall be 
reduced to $12,500 on March 31, 2022 and further reduced to $5,000 on March 31, 2023. The Term Loan is secured 
by a fixed and floating first charge over all assets of the business and is fully drawn at the end of the year.

Foreign Currency Risk

Source is exposed to currency price risk on sales denominated in US dollars to the extent that the receipt of payment 
of the US denominated accounts receivable are subject to fluctuations in the related foreign exchange rate. In 
addition, foreign currency risk exists on the cost of manufacturing and transporting inventory for sale to the extent that 
the payment of those costs are foreign denominated accounts payable and are subject to fluctuations in the foreign 
exchange rate. Source monitors its net foreign currency exposure on a regular basis. Included in accounts receivable 
and accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2020 are $18.5 million (December 31, 2019 - $31.4 
million) and $14.9 million (December 31, 2019 - $31.9 million) denominated in foreign currency, respectively. The net 
effect of each 1% change in foreign exchange would have an impact on net income of $0.2 million for the three 
months ended December 31, 2020 (three months ended December 31, 2019 - $0.3 million). 

Cash and Net Working Capital

As at December 31, 2020, Source had no cash on hand and had senior long-term debt outstanding of $147.3 million, 
compared to $178.8 million as at December 31, 2019. The decrease in senior long-term debt outstanding was due to 
the extinguishment of the Old Notes and a reduction of outstanding principal amount of the Notes, pursuant to the 
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terms of the Recapitalization Transaction, and repayments made on the Credit Facility, partially offset by proceeds 
received in respect of the Term Loan and the US PPP Loan.

Total current assets less total current liabilities (net working capital) as at December 31, 2020 was $45.5 million, 
compared to $45.6 million as at December 31, 2019. Net working capital remained relatively unchanged as at 
December 31, 2020, compared to December 31, 2019, as lower levels of accounts receivable and inventories were 
offset by lower levels of accounts payable and accruals and lease obligations, relative to the prior year. 

Contract Liabilities

Source entered into an agreement with one of its customers, effective January 1, 2018, where Source received $14.8 
million (US$11.5 million) as a prepayment for future purchases of proppant. In consideration for the prepayment, the 
price per MT to the customer was reduced for each MT of sand sold to the customer. The cash price per MT was also 
reduced for each MT of sand sold or pumped by the customer. 

In December 2020, the Company realized revenue with a customer where the completion of terminal services had not 
been fulfilled. Source has recognized deferred revenue for the value of these services which were performed 
subsequent to December 31, 2020. 

During the year ended December 31, 2020, $2.6 million of these obligations were satisfied, with a balance of $0.8 
million remaining.

Contractual Obligations

Source has various commitments regarding lease agreements and physical natural gas contracts. The leases expire 
between February 2021 and March 2032. The financial liabilities on Source’s consolidated statement of financial 
position consist of the Notes, Credit Facility and finance leases. Source’s planned cash outflows relating to lease 
commitments and financial liabilities are outlined in the table below:

($000’s) Total 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
2026 and 

beyond
Lease liabilities  46,762  13,456  9,720  7,727  6,612  4,021  5,226 
Other commitments  2,698  1,192  1,192  314  —  —  — 
Credit Facility(1)  22,166  —  7,500  14,666  —  —  — 
Notes(2)  216,316  —  12,840  17,167  17,174  169,135  — 

Notes:
(1) Interest payments on such balances have been excluded from the above table as the amount and timing of any interest payments will fluctuate 

depending on balances outstanding and applicable interest rates. Based on December 31, 2020 balances and interest rates, and assuming 
amounts stay outstanding until maturity, estimated total interest expense would be $7.4 million.

(2) Includes interest for future periods and assumes the Company will elect to pay interest in kind at a rate of 12.5% through February 15, 2022 and 
subsequently pay interest in cash at 10.5% (refer to Long-term Debt section above for additional information).

Source is a party to contracts with numerous customers. Source’s customers consist primarily of E&P companies and 
pressure pumping companies operating in the WCSB. Source has structured contracts with customers outlining 
volume commitments and, in some cases, fixed pricing, the terms of which vary from one to three years. This 
mitigates the impact of any non-payment or non-performance or significant reduction in purchases by any of these 
contracted customers. Source’s customers are also serviced on a spot basis where volume thresholds are not set, 
and orders are serviced on an as-available basis at prevailing market prices.

In the ordinary course of conducting business, Source occasionally becomes involved in legal proceedings relating to 
contracts, environmental issues or other matters. While any proceeding or litigation has an element of uncertainty, 
management of Source believes that the outcome of any pending or threatened actions will not have a material 
adverse effect on the business or on the financial condition of Source.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Source does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements at this time.
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Outstanding Shares

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
2020 2019(1) 2020 2019(1)

Common shares outstanding, beginning of 
period  4,971,042  4,971,042  4,971,042  5,078,040 
Shares repurchased and canceled under NCIB  —  —  —  (106,998) 
Class B shares converted to common shares  108,346  —  108,346  — 
Shares issued due to Recapitalization Transaction  8,465,667  —  8,465,667  — 
Common shares outstanding, end of period  13,545,055  4,971,042  13,545,055  4,971,042 
Weighted average number of diluted common shares 
outstanding, end of period  5,238,693  4,971,042  5,038,320  5,007,203 

Note:
(1) Prior year shares have been restated to reflect the 12:1 share consolidation pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction.

As at March 18, 2021, Source had issued and outstanding (i) 13,545,055 common shares and (ii) nil Class B shares. 
On October 22, 2020, TriWest Capital Management Corp. exchanged all of the outstanding Class B shares into 
common shares of the Company on a one-for-one basis. 

Transactions between Related Parties

During the year ended December 31, 2020 there were no related party transactions.

Proposed Transactions

Source does not have any proposed transactions other than those occurring in the ordinary course of business. 

Selected Annual Information

($000’s, except per unit amounts) 2020 2019 2018
Total assets  266,261  496,665  520,341 
Senior secured notes  125,493  150,028  146,869 
Other non-current liabilities(1)  62,044  79,902  26,786 
Total revenue  249,878  332,956  415,027 
Net loss  (185,466)  (89,955)  (2,865) 
Net loss per share, basic and diluted(2)  (36.81)  (17.68)  (0.48) 

Notes:
(1) 2019 includes $40.3 million of liabilities related to leases recognized as a result of the adoption of IFRS 16.
(2) Prior year amounts have been restated to reflect the 12:1 share consolidation pursuant to the Recapitalization Transaction.

Controls and Procedures

The Company is required to comply with National Instrument 52-109 - Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual 
and Interim Filings. The certificate for annual filings requires the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer to certify the design of Source’s disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) and internal control over 
financial reporting (“ICFR”) as at December 31, 2020. There were no material weaknesses in the design of the DC&P 
and the ICFR at December 31, 2020, and no changes in ICFR during the period beginning on January 1, 2020 and 
ended on December 31, 2020 that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect Source’s ICFR. 
The control framework used to design the Company’s ICFR is the framework in Internal Control – Integrated 
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. While the 
Company’s certifying officers believe that the Company’s DC&P and ICFR provide a reasonable level of assurance 
with regard to their effectiveness, a control system, no matter how well conceived or operated, can provide only 
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system will be met and it should not be 
expected that the control system will prevent all errors or fraud.

Business Risks

The following business risks are not a complete list of risks and for additional information regarding the risks that 
Source is exposed to, see the disclosure provided under the heading “Risk Factors” in the Company’s AIF.

Source’s business may be adversely affected by changing economic conditions beyond its control, including 
decreases in oil and natural gas development

Source’s revenue is closely tied to conditions in the oil and natural gas industry in which its customers operate, and 
more broadly to general economic conditions. Source’s product and services are used primarily in oil and gas 
exploration and production in Western Canada and the United States. Consequently, economic downturns and 
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particularly weakness in the oil and natural gas market may lead to a significant decrease in demand for Source’s 
products and services or depress utilization rates and the prices for the products and services Source sells. During 
periods of expansion in Source’s respective end markets, Source generally has benefited from increased demand for 
its products and services. However, during recessionary periods in Source’s end markets, Source may be adversely 
affected by reduced demand for its products and services. Weakness in Source’s end markets, such as a decline in 
oil and natural gas exploration and production, may in the future lead to a decrease in the demand for Source’s 
products and services or the price Source can charge for its products and services, which could adversely affect 
Source’s operating results by decreasing revenues and profit margins. Deterioration in the oil and natural gas industry 
could have a material adverse effect on Source’s business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows in 
the future.

Source’s business and financial performance depend on the level of activity in the oil and natural gas 
industry

Substantially all of Source’s revenues are derived from the sale of proppant to companies in the oil and natural gas 
industry in the WCSB. As a result, Source’s operations are dependent on the levels of activity in oil and natural gas 
exploration, development and production primarily in the WCSB. More specifically, the demand for the proppants 
Source produces is closely related to the number of oil and natural gas wells completed in geological formations that 
Source serves and where sand-based proppants are used in hydraulic fracturing activities. These activity levels are 
affected by both short and long-term trends in oil and natural gas prices, among other factors. Historically, oil and 
natural gas prices have been volatile and are subject to fluctuations in response to changes in supply and demand, 
market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors that are beyond the Company’s control. Oil and natural gas 
prices and, therefore, the level of exploration, development and production activity, have decreased significantly since 
mid-2014. Oil and natural gas prices remain unstable because of market uncertainties over the supply and the 
demand of these commodities due to the current state of the world economy, OPEC actions, sanctions imposed on 
certain oil producing nations by other countries, ongoing credit and liquidity concerns, and the impact of protectionist 
measures on foreign trade. For instance, during the first quarter of 2020, OPEC and Russia failed to agree on a plan 
to cut production of oil and related commodities. Subsequently, Saudi Arabia announced plans to increase production 
and reduce the prices at which they sell oil. In response to the oversupply of crude oil caused by COVID19 and the 
actions of OPEC, Saudi Arabia and Russia, certain state regulators in the U.S. are considering prorating production of 
hydrocarbons. These events, combined with the outbreak of COVID-19 that has reduced economic activity and the 
related demand for oil, contributed to a sharp drop in prices for crude oil, natural gas and NGLs in the first half of 
2020. While COVID-19 vaccines have started to be administered in many countries and oil and natural gas prices 
have partially recovered from the first half of 2020, new variants of COVID-19 could impact the pace of any recovery 
of demand for oil and natural gas, and the timing of widespread lockdowns being lifted is uncertain. If conditions 
continue to deteriorate and persist, this will adversely impact Source’s operations as could conditions such as 
economic, environment, regulatory and pipeline egress issues in Canada. Furthermore, the availability of key 
resources that impact drilling activity has experienced significant fluctuations and could impact demand for the 
Company’s products. A prolonged reduction in oil and natural gas prices would generally depress the level of oil and 
natural gas exploration, development, production and well completion activity and would result in a corresponding 
decline in the demand for the proppants Source produces. Such a decline would have a material adverse effect on 
Source’s business, results of its operations, and its financial condition. Furthermore, the commercial development of 
economically viable alternative energy sources (such as wind, solar, geothermal, tidal, fuel cells and biofuels) could 
have a similar effect. Any future decreases in the rate at which oil and natural gas reserves are discovered or 
developed, whether due to the passage of legislation, increased governmental regulation leading to limitations, or 
prohibitions on exploration and drilling activity, including hydraulic fracturing, or other factors, could have a material 
adverse effect on Source’s business and financial condition, even in a stronger oil and natural gas price environment.

Global or national health concerns, including the outbreak of pandemic or contagious diseases, such 
COVID-19, may adversely affect Source

The Company’s business, operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected by the outbreak of 
epidemics or pandemics or other health crises. On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared 
COVID-19 a pandemic. Reactions to and outbreaks of COVID-19 across the globe have caused cities, provinces, 
states, countries and companies to impose unprecedented restrictions such as quarantines, closures, shelter in place 
declarations and travel restrictions, among other measures, in an attempt to slow the spread of COVID-19. The 
duration of the business disruptions domestically and internationally and related financial impacts cannot be 
reasonably estimated at this time and may last for an extended period of time. Such public health crises can result in 
volatility and disruptions in the supply and demand for oil and natural gas, global supply chains and financial markets, 
as well as declining trade and market sentiment and reduced mobility of people, all of which could affect commodity 
prices, interest rates, credit ratings, credit risk and inflation. In particular, oil prices significantly weakened in response 
to COVID-19. The risks to the Company of such public health crises also include risks to employee health and safety 
and a slowdown or temporary suspension of operations in geographic locations impacted by an outbreak. At this 
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point, the extent to which COVID-19 may impact the Company is uncertain; however, it is possible that COVID-19 
may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. Global 
or national health concerns, including the outbreak of pandemic or contagious diseases, such as COVID-19, may 
adversely affect the Company by: (i) reducing global economic activity thereby resulting in lower demand for crude oil, 
NGLs and natural gas, which in turn could also reduce the demand for Source’s frac sand; (ii) interrupting the 
Company’s operations (for example, as a result of government mandated shut-down or other preventative measures, 
or illness among our workforce); and (iii) affecting the health of the Company’s workforce, rendering employees 
unable to work or travel. Should an employee or visitor at any of the Company’s facilities, offices or work sites 
become infected with a serious illness that has the potential to spread rapidly, this could place our workforce at risk. 
COVID-19 is one example of such an illness. The Company takes precautions to strictly meet or exceed industrial 
hygiene and occupational health and safety guidelines. Additionally, the Company follows posted health guidelines to 
protect the health of its employees and decrease the potential impact of serious illness on the Company’s operations. 
There can be no assurance that COVID-19 or another infectious illness will not impact the Company’s personnel and 
ultimately its operations.

Downturn in business could result in potential impairment of property, plant and equipment

Decreases in commodity prices have had, and may in the future have, a negative impact on industry drilling and well 
completion activity, which affects the demand for frac sand. Should energy industry conditions deteriorate, there is a 
possibility that property, plant and equipment may be impaired in a future period. Any resulting non-cash impairment 
charges to earnings may be material. Specific uncertainties affecting Source’s estimated fair value include the impact 
of competition, the prices of frac sand, future overall activity levels and demand for frac sand, the activity levels of 
Source’s significant customers, and other factors affecting the rate of Source’s future growth. These factors will 
continue to be reviewed and assessed going forward. Additional adverse developments with regard to these factors 
could have a further negative impact on Source’s fair value.

Source relies on a small number of customers for the majority of its revenue

Source relies on a small number of large customers for most of its revenue, and the loss of one or more such 
customers would adversely affect Source’s results of operations and cash flows. Source’s five largest customers 
accounted for 84% of its revenue for the year ended  December 31, 2020. Although a significant percentage of 
Source’s customers are under contract, certain contracts do not provide for guaranteed volumes and can be 
terminated on short notice and, on occasion, certain customers may demand to renegotiate a contract prior to the end 
of its term. There can be no assurance that Source’s current customers will continue their relationships with Source or 
that contracts that come up for renewal will be renewed or, if they are renewed, that customers will contract for the 
same amounts or that they will pay the same prices as they have in the past. The loss of one or more major 
customers, the failure to renew customer contracts, or any decrease in products or services purchased or prices paid 
or any other changes to the terms of service under renewed contracts could have a material adverse effect on 
Source’s business, financial position, results of operations and cash flows. A substantial portion of Source’s customer 
contracts, including contract renewals, are subject to competitive tender processes, and there can be no assurance 
that Source will be successful in acquiring new business or retaining existing business subject to competitive tender. 
As a result of the limited number of customers that Source currently serves, Source’s operations are subject to 
counterparty risk. The ability or willingness of each of Source’s customers to perform its obligations under an 
agreement with Source will depend on a number of factors that are beyond Source’s control and may include, among 
other things, the overall financial condition of the counterparty, the condition of the Canadian and US oil and natural 
gas exploration and production industry, the continuing use of frac sand in hydraulic fracturing operations and general 
economic conditions. In addition, in depressed market conditions, Source’s customers may no longer need the 
amount of frac sand for which they have indicated or agreed to, or may be able to obtain comparable products at a 
lower price. If Source’s customers experience a significant downturn in their business or financial condition, they may 
attempt to renegotiate Source’s agreements. In addition, as agreements expire, depending on market conditions at 
the time, Source’s customers may choose not to extend, or to adjust the terms of, these agreements which could lead 
to a significant reduction of sales volumes and corresponding revenues cash flows and financial condition if Source is 
not able to replace these expected sales volumes with new sales volumes. Additionally, even if Source were to 
replace any lost volumes, under current market conditions, lower prices for its product could materially reduce its 
revenues, cash flow and financial condition.

All of Source’s frac sand is currently produced from the Sumner Facility, the Blair Facility, and the Preston 
Facility, and the delivery of that frac sand to Source’s customers is primarily served by one rail line. Any 
adverse developments at a facility or on the rail line could have a material adverse effect on Source’s 
business, financial condition and results of operations

All of Source’s sand is currently derived from the Sumner Facility, the Blair Facility, and the Preston Facility which are 
served primarily by a single Class I rail line owned by Canadian National Railway Company. Any adverse 
development at the Sumner Facility, the Blair Facility, or the Preston Facility or on the rail line due to catastrophic 
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events or weather, or any other event that would cause Source to curtail, suspend or terminate operations at its 
facilities, could result in Source being unable to meet its sand deliveries. Although Source maintains insurance 
coverage to cover a portion of these types of risks, there are potential risks associated with Source’s operations not 
covered by insurance. There also may be certain risks covered by insurance where the policy does not reimburse 
Source for all of the costs related to a loss. Downtime or other delays or interruptions to Source’s operations that are 
not covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on Source’s business, results of operations and 
financial condition. In addition, since Sumner Facility, the Blair Facility, and the Preston Facility are all served by a 
single Class I rail line, any adverse changes to the existing rail rates, rail car leases, or other logistics costs would 
adversely affect Source’s business operations and financial position.

Climate-related risks have the potential to impact Source’s operations

Climate-related risks have the potential to impact Source’s operations, the delivery of its services and future financial 
condition. Significant changes, such as more frequent, severe weather in the markets Source serves or the areas 
where our assets are located, could cause increased expenses and impact to its operations and the operations of its 
customers. As a service provider to its customers in the oil and gas industry, Source is unable to predict how a 
change in the environmental or regulatory regime might affect our customers and consequently our business model. 
The costs associated with interrupted operations will depend on the duration and severity of any physical event, the 
impact on its customers and the damage to be repaired and remedial work to be carried out. Financial implications 
could include business interruption, damage or loss of production and uptime. While Source does not currently have a 
formal risk management process in place to identify and assess the potential size, scope and prioritization of climate-
related risks, Source’s business operations are, located, designed and operated to accommodate a range of climate 
conditions. Given the evolving nature of the environmental and regulatory regime surrounding climate change, it is not 
currently possible to predict the impact it may have on its future financial conditions, operations and customers.

The Company’s information assets and critical infrastructure may be subject to cyber security risks

The Company is subject to a variety of information technology and system risks as a part of its normal course 
operations, including potential breakdown, user errors, invasion, virus, computer viruses, cyber-attack, cyber-fraud, 
hackers or malicious actors, security or data breach, and destruction or interruption of the Company’s information 
technology systems by third parties or insiders. 

Despite Source’s security measures and controls, which are designed to mitigate these risks, a breach of its security 
measures and/or a loss of information could occur and result in a loss of material and confidential information and 
reputation, breach of privacy laws and a disruption to the Company’s business activities by limiting its capacity to 
effectively monitor and control Source’s operations and adjust to changing market conditions. Source’s failure to 
appropriately maintain the security of the data Source holds, whether as a result of Source’s own error or the 
malfeasance or errors of others, could harm Source’s reputation or give rise to legal liabilities leading to lower 
revenues, increased costs and other adverse effects on Source’s results of operations. Any future cyber security 
attacks that affect Source’s facilities, communications systems, Source’s customers or any of Source’s financial data 
could have a material adverse effect on Source’s business. In addition, cyber-attacks on Source’s customer and 
employee data may result in a financial loss and may negatively impact Source’s reputation. Third-party systems on 
which Source relies could also suffer operational system failure. The significance of any such event is difficult to 
quantify but may in certain circumstances be material to the Company and could have adverse effects on the 
Company’s business, reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

Although Source maintains specialized insurance for possible liability resulting from a cyber-attack on Source’s 
assets that may shut down all or part of Source’s business, there may be certain risks covered by insurance where 
the policy does not reimburse Source for all of the costs related to a loss. Such events, unauthorized access or other 
interruptions to Source’s operations could result in the loss of confidential information, intellectual property, litigation, 
remediation costs, damage to our reputation and may negatively impact our ability to service our customers as such 
this could have a material adverse effect on Source’s business, reputation, operations and financial condition.

Source’s operations are subject to operating risks that are often beyond its control and could adversely 
affect production levels and costs

Source’s mining, processing and production facilities, its logistics operations and any future properties it develops or 
may acquire in the future are and will be subject to risks normally encountered in the frac sand industry. These risks 
include:

• changes in the price and availability of transportation;
• inability to obtain necessary production equipment or replacement parts;
• inclement or hazardous weather conditions, including flooding, and the physical impacts of climate change;
• unanticipated ground, grade or water conditions;
• inability to acquire or maintain necessary permits or mining or water rights;
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• late delivery of supplies;
• changes in the price and availability of natural gas or electricity that Source uses as fuel sources for its frac 

sand plants and equipment;
• technical difficulties or failures;
• cave-ins or similar pit wall failures;
• environmental hazards, such as unauthorized spills, releases and discharges of wastes, tank ruptures and 

emissions of unpermitted levels of pollutants;
• industrial accidents;
• changes in laws and regulations (or the interpretation thereof) related to the mining and oil and natural gas 

industries, silica dust exposure or the environment;
• inability of Source’s customers or distribution partners to take delivery;
• reduction in the amount of water available for processing;
• fires, explosions or other accidents; and
• facility shutdowns in response to environmental regulatory actions.

The occurrence of any of these events could have a material adverse effect on Source’s business, financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows.

Source’s operations are subject to operational hazards and unforeseen interruptions for which Source may 
not be adequately insured

Source’s operations are exposed to extreme weather conditions or natural or other disasters, including blizzards, 
tornadoes, storms, floods, other adverse weather conditions, earthquakes, forest fires, epidemics or pandemics 
(including, most recently, the novel coronavirus (COVID-19)) and similar events, which may cause postponements in 
the initiation and/or completion of the Company’s activities and may hinder the ability of its employees to perform their 
duties, which may result in delays or loss of revenues that otherwise would be recognized while certain costs 
continue to be incurred. If any of these events were to occur, Source could incur substantial losses because of 
personal injury or loss of life, severe damage to and destruction of property and equipment, and pollution or other 
environmental damage resulting in curtailment or suspension of Source’s operations. The risks to the Company of 
public health crises including epidemics, pandemics or outbreaks of new infectious disease or viruses (including, 
most recently, COVID-19, and related events, include risks to employee health and safety. The Company’s business 
could also experience a slowdown or temporary suspension in operations in geographic locations impacted by an 
outbreak in the short term. Any prolonged restrictive measures put in place in order to contain an outbreak of a 
contagious disease or other adverse public health development, in any jurisdictions where the Company operates or 
holds any assets, may have a material and adverse effect on the Company’s financial and/or operating performance. 
Any delay in the completion of the Company’s services may require the Company to incur additional non-
compensable costs, including overtime work, that are necessary to meet clients’ schedules. Due to various factors, a 
delay in the commencement or completion of a project may also result in penalties or sanctions under contracts or 
even the cancellation of contracts. Source is not fully insured against all risks incident to its business, including the 
risk of Source’s operations being interrupted due to severe weather or natural or other disasters. Furthermore, Source 
may be unable to maintain or obtain insurance of the type and amount Source desires at reasonable rates. As a result 
of market conditions, premiums and deductibles for certain of Source’s insurance policies have increased and could 
escalate further. In some instances, certain insurance could become unavailable or available only for reduced 
amounts of coverage. If Source were to incur a significant liability for which Source is not fully insured, it could have a 
material adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition.

Financial Instruments and Other Instruments

Risk Management Overview

Source’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Further 
quantitative disclosures are included in the Company’s financial statements. Source employs risk management 
strategies and polices to ensure that any exposures to risk are in compliance with Source’s business objectives and 
risk tolerance levels. While the Board has the overall responsibility for Source’s risk management framework, 
Source’s management has the responsibility to administer and monitor these risks.

For additional information regarding the risks that Source is exposed to, see the disclosure provided under the 
heading ‘Risk Factors’ in the AIF.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their carrying 
values due to the short-term maturity of those instruments. The fair value of the Credit Facility approximates the 
carrying value as it bears interest at floating market rates consistent with market rates for similar debt. The fair value 
for the Notes and the prepayment options were determined using various inputs including comparable securities 
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trading in the secondary market. Based on this analysis, as of December 31, 2020, the fair value of the Notes was 
$126.0 million and the fair value of prepayment options was $1.5 million. 

Source previously had a customer contract that included foreign exchange rate collars. The embedded derivative was 
separated from the contract and accounted for as a derivative asset or liability and was measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. Source had entered into foreign exchange rate collars to help mitigate the risk associated with 
the embedded derivative contained in the customer contract. The collars were wound up and settled in January 2020.

Notional amount of 
Contract (per month) Exchange rate floor

Notional amount of 
Contract (per month) Exchange rate ceiling Contract expiry

USD $1,500  1.25 USD $3,000  1.36 January 2020

USD $1,500  1.25 USD $3,000  1.40 January 2020

Critical Accounting Estimates

The following discussion sets forth management’s most critical estimates and assumptions in determining the value of 
assets, liabilities and equity.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and grants credit based on a review of historical 
collection experience, current aging status, the customer’s financial condition and anticipated industry conditions. 
Customer payments are regularly monitored. A provision for doubtful accounts is established based on the expected 
credit loss model under IFRS 9. 

Inventories

The Company evaluates its inventory to ensure it is carried at the lower of average cost and net realizable value. 
Allowances are made against obsolete or damaged inventories and charged to cost of sales. The reversal of any 
write-down of inventory arising from an increase in net realizable value would be recognized as a reduction in cost of 
sales in the period in which the reversal occurred.

Depreciation

The amounts recorded for depreciation of property and equipment are based on estimates of the useful lives of the 
assets and residual values. This estimated residual value and useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period and adjusted if required.

Decommissioning liabilities

The amounts recorded for decommissioning liabilities are based on the Company’s mining activities and the 
estimated costs to abandon and reclaim the land and facilities, the estimated time period in which these costs will be 
incurred in the future and the discount and inflation rates. Any changes to these estimates could change the amount 
of decommissioning liability and may materially impact the consolidated financial statements in future periods.

Income taxes

The amounts recorded for deferred income taxes are based on estimates regarding the timing of the reversal of 
temporary differences and tax rates currently substantively enacted. Legislation and regulations in the various 
jurisdictions that the Company operates in are subject to change and differing interpretations require management 
judgment. Income tax filings are subject to audits, re-assessments and changes in facts, circumstances and 
interpretations of the standards could result in a material change in the Company’s provision for income taxes. As 
such, income taxes are subject to measurement uncertainty.

Share-based compensation

Liability-settled compensation plans include RSUs, PSUs and DSUs. RSUs and PSUs may be settled in common 
shares or cash. DSUs, RSUs and PSUs may be settled for cash payments and accordingly are considered a liability-
settled award for accounting purposes. The fair value of stock options to purchase common shares is estimated at the 
grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which includes underlying assumptions related to the risk-
free interest rate, average expected unit life, estimated forfeitures and estimated volatility of Source.

Cash-generating units

The determination of a cash-generating unit (“CGU”) is based on management’s judgment regarding geographical 
proximity, shared equipment and mobility of equipment. Management has determined that the Company’s operations 
represent one CGU.
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Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are largely independent cash inflows (CGUs). The recoverable amount of a CGU is 
determined using an approach which considers a discounted cash flow model and an earnings multiple approach. 
The discounted cash flow model incorporates significant assumptions including a revenue growth rate and discount 
rate. The earnings multiple approach uses earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization less 
corporate expenses and comparable market multiples to determine the recoverable amount of the CGU. Prior 
impairments of non-financial assets are reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting date.

Embedded derivatives

An embedded derivative is a component of a contract that modifies the cash flows of the contract. Embedded 
derivatives are separated from the contract and accounted for as derivative liabilities or assets. Embedded derivatives 
are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The fair value of the derivatives may be based on prices or valuation 
techniques that require inputs that are not based on observable market data.

Revenue recognition

Contractual arrangements for revenue are intricate and may have multiple contractual elements within them, resulting 
in complex recognition in the financial statements. The contractual elements which require significant consideration 
may include embedded derivatives, contract liabilities, take-or-pay commitments and leasing arrangements. 
Significant judgement is required in identifying and assessing the appropriate accounting recognition for each 
contractual element identified within these contractual arrangements.

NON-IFRS MEASURES

This MD&A refers to certain financial measures that are not determined in accordance with IFRS. These financial 
measures do not have standardized meanings prescribed by IFRS and Source’s method of calculating these 
measures may differ from the method used by other entities and, accordingly, they may not be comparable to similar 
measures presented by other companies. These financial measures should not be considered as an alternative to, or 
more meaningful than, net income (loss), gross margin and other measures of financial performance as determined in 
accordance with IFRS. Source believes that these non-IFRS measures are useful to both management and investors 
in providing relative performance and measuring changes in respect of Source as well as measuring Source’s 
financial performance in the context of earnings generated to fund capital investments and meet financial obligations. 
More specifically, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Gross Margin and Free Cash Flow are considered key non-
IFRS measures as they reflect the ability of Source to generate earnings necessary to meet its capital investments 
and financial obligations. Adjusted EBITDA per MT and Adjusted Gross Margin per MT are calculated by taking the 
non-IFRS measures and dividing by sand volumes for the periods stated.

Adjusted EBITDA represents earnings generated to fund capital investments and meet financial obligations. It 
represents, for the period presented, EBITDA as adjusted to add back or deduct, as applicable, the following 
expenses, costs, charges or benefits incurred in such period which in management’s view are not indicative of the 
underlying business performance: (a) finance expense excluding interest expense; (b) loss (gain) on asset disposal; 
(c) transaction and professional fees; (d) loss (gain) on derivative liability; (e) gain on settlement of deferred revenue; 
(f) share-based compensation; and (g) other expense as it relates to the Fox Creek Incident.

EBITDA represents, for the period presented, net income (loss) plus: (a) income taxes; (b) interest expense; (c) cost 
of sales – depreciation; (d) depreciation; (e) amortization; (f) impairment; and (g) gain on debt extinguishment, in each 
case to the extent deducted from net income in such period determined on a combined basis in accordance with 
IFRS.

Adjusted Gross Margin represents a margin more comparable to its peers. It represents, for the period presented, 
gross margin plus costs of sales - depreciation.

Free Cash Flow represents, for the period presented, cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities adjusted 
for financing expense paid, maintenance and sustaining capital spend need to maintain operations, mandatory debt 
repayments and various non-cash operating activities. Free Cash Flow is considered a key non-IFRS measure as it 
reflects the ability of Source to fund its discretionary capital and non-capital spend from cash flows provided by 
operating activities. The reconciliation to the comparable IFRS measure, Cash flows provided by (used in) operating 
activities, can be found on page 11.
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This MD&A makes reference to these non-IFRS measures. These non-IFRS measures and other financial estimates 
of management are based upon variable components. There can be no assurance that these components and future 
calculations of non-IFRS measures will not vary. Investors are cautioned not to consider these non-IFRS measures in 
isolation or place undue reliance on ratios or percentages calculated using these non-IFRS measures.

Reconciliation of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to Net Income

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
($000’s) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Net income (loss)  24,015  (2,619)  (185,466)  (89,955) 

Add:

Tax expense (recovery)  —  416  31,350  (23,941) 

Interest expense  6,615  6,097  25,052  24,169 

Cost of sales – depreciation  5,253  6,351  32,188  42,043 

Depreciation  2,647  4,020  13,860  16,212 

Impairment expense  —  —  143,656  61,215 

Gain on debt extinguishment  (27,690)  —  (27,690)  — 

EBITDA  10,840  14,265  32,950  29,743 

Add:

Finance expense excluding interest expense  1,132  1,011  4,637  3,891 

Share-based compensation expense (recovery)  77  (201)  (14)  203 

Loss (gain) on asset disposal  —  8  (150)  161 

Gain on derivative liability  —  (144)  —  (1,326) 

Other (income) expense  112  (5,755)  298  15,954 

Adjusted EBITDA  12,161  9,184  37,721  48,626 

Reconciliation of Gross Margin to Adjusted Gross Margin

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,
($000’s) 2020 2019 2020 2019

Gross margin  11,066  10,622  24,657  37,611 

Cost of sales – depreciation  5,253  6,351  32,188  42,043 

Adjusted Gross Margin  16,319  16,973  56,845  79,654 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Certain statements contained in this MD&A constitute forward-looking statements relating to, without limitation, 
expectations, intentions, plans and beliefs, including information as to the future events, results of operations and 
Source’s future performance (both operational and financial) and business prospects. In certain cases, forward-
looking statements can be identified by the use of words such as “expects”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, 
“anticipates”, “believes”, “plans”, “projects” or variations of such words and phrases, or state that certain actions, 
events or results “may” or “will” be taken, occur or be achieved. Such forward-looking statements reflect Source’s 
beliefs, estimates and opinions regarding its future growth, results of operations, future performance (both operational 
and financial), and business prospects and opportunities at the time such statements are made, and Source 
undertakes no obligation to update forward-looking statements if these beliefs, estimates and opinions or 
circumstances should change unless required by applicable law. Forward-looking statements are necessarily based 
upon a number of estimates and assumptions made by Source that are inherently subject to significant business, 
economic, competitive, political and social uncertainties and contingencies. Forward-looking statements are not 
guarantees of future performance. In particular, this MD&A contains forward-looking statements pertaining, but not 
limited, to: our continued optimism for longer term industry prospects and increased demand for LNG on WCSB 
activity levels; anticipated improvements in pipeline egress and transportation capacity, coal to natural gas power 
generation conversions and the potential for additional hydrocarbon shipments by rail; outlook for operations and 
sales volumes; expectations respecting future conditions; revenue and profitability; industry activity levels; the impact 
of COVID-19 on the global economy and the effect it may continue to have on the Company’s business, liquidity, 
operations and financial condition and the pace of any subsequent recovery; industry conditions pertaining to the frac 
sand industry; the benefits that Source’s “last mile” services provide to customers; expectations regarding customer 
relationships and counterparty risk; the anticipated effect of terminal services on Source’s business; expectations 
regarding funding for future working capital and capital expenditures; Source’s planned cash outflows relating to lease 
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commitments and financial liabilities; the ability to secure future funding; expectations on Source’s ability to meet their 
capital needs; expectations regarding fluctuations in foreign currency; expectations regarding the severity and 
outcome of legal claims and proceedings; expectations regarding the impact of climate change; risks associated with 
information systems and cyber security; and operational risks. 

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve numerous current assumptions, known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of Source to differ 
materially from those anticipated by Source and described in the forward-looking statements. 

With respect to the forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A, assumptions have been made regarding, 
among other things: proppant market prices; future oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids prices; future global 
economic and financial conditions; future commodity prices, demand for oil and gas and the product mix of such 
demand; levels of activity in the oil and gas industry in the areas in which Source operates; the continued availability 
of timely and safe transportation for Source’s products, including without limitation, Source’s rail car fleet and the 
accessibility of additional transportation by rail and truck; the maintenance of Source’s key customers and the 
financial strength of its key customers; the maintenance of Source’s significant contracts or their replacement with 
new contracts on substantially similar terms and that contractual counterparties will comply with current contractual 
terms; operating costs; that the regulatory environment in which Source operates will be maintained in the manner 
currently anticipated by Source; future exchange and interest rates; geological and engineering estimates in respect 
of Source’s resources; the recoverability of Source’s resources; the accuracy and veracity of information and 
projections sourced from third parties respecting, among other things, future industry conditions and product demand; 
demand for horizontal drilling and hydraulic fracturing and the maintenance of current techniques and procedures, 
particularly with respect to the use of proppants; Source’s ability to obtain qualified staff and equipment in a timely 
and cost-efficient manner; the regulatory framework governing royalties, taxes and environmental matters in the 
jurisdictions in which Source conducts its business and any other jurisdictions in which Source may conduct its 
business in the future; future capital expenditures to be made by Source; future sources of funding for Source’s 
capital program; Source’s future debt levels; the impact of competition on Source; and Source’s ability to obtain 
financing on acceptable terms. 

A number of factors, risks and uncertainties could cause results to differ materially from those anticipated and 
described herein including, among others: the effects of competition and pricing pressures; risks inherent in key 
customer dependence; effects of fluctuations in the price of proppants; risks related to indebtedness and liquidity, 
including Source’s leverage, restrictive covenants in Source’s debt instruments and Source’s capital requirements; 
risks related to interest rate fluctuations and foreign exchange rate fluctuations; changes in general economic, 
financial, market and business conditions in the markets in which Source operates; changes in the technologies used 
to drill for and produce oil and natural gas; Source’s ability to obtain, maintain and renew required permits, licenses 
and approvals from regulatory authorities; the stringent requirements of and potential changes to applicable 
legislation, regulations and standards; the ability of Source to comply with unexpected costs of government 
regulations; liabilities resulting from Source’s operations; the results of litigation or regulatory proceedings that may be 
brought against Source; the ability of Source to successfully bid on new contracts and the loss of significant contracts; 
uninsured and underinsured losses; risks related to the transportation of Source’s products, including potential rail 
line interruptions or a reduction in rail car availability; the geographic and customer concentration of Source; the 
impact of climate change risk; the ability of Source to retain and attract qualified management and staff in the markets 
in which Source operates; labour disputes and work stoppages and risks related to employee health and safety; 
general risks associated with the oil and natural gas industry, loss of markets, consumer and business spending and 
borrowing trends; limited, unfavourable, or a lack of access to capital markets; uncertainties inherent in estimating 
quantities of mineral resources; sand processing problems; implementation of recently issued accounting standards; 
the use and suitability of Source’s accounting estimates and judgments; and the impact of information systems and 
cyber security breaches. 

Although Source has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events or results to differ 
materially from those described in the forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause actions, 
events or results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that forward-looking 
statements will materialize or prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ materially from 
those anticipated in such statements. The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are expressly qualified 
by this cautionary statement. Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements. These 
statements speak only as of the date of this MD&A. Except as may be required by law, Source expressly disclaims 
any intention or obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements or information whether as a result of 
new information, future events or otherwise.  

Any financial outlook and future-oriented financial information contained in this MD&A regarding prospective financial 
performance, financial position or cash flows is based on assumptions about future events, including economic 
conditions and proposed courses of action based on management’s assessment of the relevant information that is 
currently available. Projected operational information contains forward-looking information and is based on a number 
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of material assumptions and factors, as are set out above. These projections may also be considered to contain 
future oriented financial information or a financial outlook. The actual results of Source’s operations for any period will 
likely vary from the amounts set forth in these projections and such variations may be material. Actual results will vary 
from projected results. Readers are cautioned that any such financial outlook and future-oriented financial information 
contained herein should not be used for purposes other than those for which it is disclosed herein. The forward-
looking information and statements contained in this document speak only as of the date hereof and have been 
approved by the Company’s management as at the date hereof. The Company does not assume any obligation to 
publicly update or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances, except as may be required pursuant to 
applicable laws. 
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